

Research, Innovation and Knowledge

Annual Report 2020-2021



© NHS Fife 2022 Published February 2022

This document is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International Licence. This allows for the copy and redistribution of this document as long as NHS Fife is fully acknowledged and given credit. The material must not be remixed, transformed or built upon in any way. To view a copy of this licence, visit https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/

www.nhsfife.org

Contents

1. Executive Summary	2
2. Introduction	4
3. Activity and Income	5
4. Clinical Researcher Career Spotlight	15
5. Research, Innovation and Knowledge Support	18
6. Research, Innovation & Knowledge Participants/User Experience	29
7. NRS Fellowship Support Scheme Awards	31
8. Opportunities and Challenges	35
9. Conclusions	37
10. Publications	38
11. Appendix 1 – RIK Structure	55

1. Executive Summary



The NHS Fife R&D Department, now the Research, Innovation & Knowledge (RIK) Department has seen 20 years of significant sustainable progress and is increasingly able to support high quality and more complex research and innovation related activities in Fife, working with partners in the NHS, Universities, Industry and other relevant stakeholders.

Throughout these years this department has utilised a multitude of innovative models to help sustain the increasing research activities in Fife. One such example is the R&D research nurse model with research nurses located within the R&D Department, which has had acclaim due to its effective results in recruiting, establishing and communicating the research activities within various fields. This model was instrumental in Fife becoming a major recruitment site for several COVID-19 related national studies following a rapid 10-day turnaround during both lockdown periods to make Fife's very busy clinical environments research friendly and active. Another example is the Clinical Research Facility at the Victoria Hospital in Kirkcaldy enabling complex clinical trials to occur locally, again for the benefit of Fife patients.

These and other examples are only possible due to the Research, Innovation & Knowledge department's ability to work with colleagues spanning the clinical and academic divide. The delivery business model around innovation and diversity in investment and activities allow this department to move forward with confidence. Last but not least this is also a testament to the effective and responsive leadership qualities that incoming NHS Fife's R&D Assistant Director and Innovation Champion, Professor Frances Quirk who, in these challenging times sustained and further improved the credibility, professionalism and governance of this department internally to NHS staff and externally to our partners. Professor Quirk was also instrumental in establishing the first building blocks of a Fife health innovation agenda.

RIK in Fife has again utilised the principles of added value and critical mass to good effect. We look forward to next year, keen to work even more closely with neighbouring Health Boards, Universities and other agencies either under the auspices of the East of Scotland Research Node, Health Innovation South East Scotland (HISES) and/or other similar national and regional collaborations in a landscape that is continuously changing and demanding only the best for our Fife citizens that we serve with pride. We, especially, also look forward to continue to synergise our research strategic priorities with the University of St Andrews, our local university and medical school. Many thanks to the whole RIK team for their consistent hard work and commitment towards the implementation of the Research strategy. We also thank Dr Christopher McKenna who has supported RIK even when his attention was needed urgently elsewhere.

We are all looking forward to another exciting and productive year.

Professor Alex Baldacchino

Research, Innovation & Knowledge Director, NHS Fife

2. Introduction



This report details the activities within Research, Innovation and Knowledge (RIK) across NHS Fife from April 2020 to March 2021. It details progress made over the last 12 months in relation to ongoing work, previously identified challenges and identifies the key challenges currently facing RIK.

There were significant changes over this period, not least responding to the COVID-19 pandemic and the requirements to move to working from home where possible, suspending studies and responding to the Scottish Government Urgent Public Health priorities.

The Department has also seen significant change of leadership with Assistant Director R&D, Dr Amanda Wood retiring in August 2020 and incoming Assistant Director Professor Frances Quirk commencing virtually from Australia in August 2020, arriving in Fife in November 2020.

From November 2020 the Department has grown to include Innovation and Library and Knowledge Services and been rebadged as Research, Innovation and Knowledge (RIK). Continuing significant developments within RIK include our relationships with the Universities of St Andrews and Dundee in relation to research activities and the South East Region Innovation Hub (HISES) for Innovation. The joint clinical academic appointments with the Universities of Dundee and St Andrews have produced benefits in terms of closer collaboration and contribution to an expanding NHS Fife research culture. Work has advanced particularly well with the University of St Andrews, with a renewed commitment to partnership between the University of St Andrews and NHS Fife with confirmation of St Andrews primary medical degree awarding status in March 2021.

Professor Frances Quirk

Research, Innovation & Knowledge Assistant Director, NHS Fife

3. Activity and Income

Research

1. R&D Studies and Recruitment

Research is categorised as *'commercial'* (funded by the pharmaceutical or medical device industry) or *'non-commercial'*. Non-commercial research is further divided into "eligible" (funded by charitable organisations, research councils or Government bodies), or "non-eligible" (NEF - funded by a non-eligible organisation or is unfunded).

R&D funding is provided via NHS Research Scotland (NRS) by the Chief Scientist Office (CSO) in respect of research considered 'eligible' for funding, in recognition of the unfunded costs incurred by the NHS for undertaking and participating in such projects.

The following R&D activity summary includes the studies open to recruitment in NHS Fife at some point within the 2020-21 financial year. A further 29 studies had completed recruitment and were in follow-up during this period.

Data has been obtained from the SReDA database and excludes PIC (Patient Identification Centre) and NLI (No Local Investigator) studies.

Commercial/Non-commercial Studies

Commercial

The specialities which were involved in commercial studies were: Dermatology (3), Cancer (1), Diabetes (1) Infectious Diseases (1), Musculoskeletal (1) and Respiratory Disorders (1).



Non-Commercial

The top 5 non-commercial research active areas in terms of study numbers were: Cancer (7), Children (7), Respiratory Disorders (7), Stroke (7) and Cardiovascular (5).



Number of study participants

In 2020-2021 a total of 1308 new participants were recruited.

Commercial recruitment was limited due to the suspension of research activity for nonessential non-COVID 19 studies.

The top 5 non-commercial studies in 2020-2021 in terms of recruited participants were: Infectious Diseases (753), Mental Health (216), Respiratory (107), Cardiovascular (65) and Critical Care (58).

NHS Fife Recruitment – April 2020 – March 2021



Type of Studies

We have a balanced portfolio of studies ranging from observational to complex interventional studies across a number of therapeutic areas.

The number of studies according to study type and disease specialty, as listed on the National database is shown below.



NHS Fife Recruiting Studies – April 2020 – March 2021

2. NHS Fife Research Active Staff

NHS Fife staff can be involved in the delivery of research by becoming the Chief Investigator (CI), or Principal Investigator (PI). The CI is the person designated as having overall responsibility for the design, conduct and reporting of a study, while the PI is the named individual who has responsibility for oversight of the study at a specific site.

Chief Investigators

Eight NHS Fife staff members acted as Chief Investigator for a research study and 6 of these studies were sponsored by NHS Fife.

Number of studies led by NHS Fife Principal Investigators per therapeutic area

The number of studies led by NHS Fife PIs according to therapeutic area is shown below. The top six therapeutic areas of number of studies led by NHS Fife PIs were Cancer (23), Stroke (11), Renal Disorders (10), Respiratory (10), Cardiovascular (9), and Dermatology (9).



Number Of Studies Led By NHS Fife Principal Investigators Per Therapeutic Area

Number of NHS Fife Principal Investigators per therapeutic area

The number of NHS Fife Principal Investigators according to therapeutic area is shown below. There were a total of 76 NHS Fife PIs leading studies. The highest numbers of NHS Fife PIs according to therapeutic area were Cancer (10), Renal Disorders (6) and Neurology (5).



Number of studies led by NHS Fife Principal Investigators per Therapeutic Area

Number of Studies each Principal Investigator has responsibility for at NHS Fife The number of studies that each PI has responsibility for at NHS Fife is shown below.



Number of Studies each Principal Investigator has responsibility for at NHS Fife

R&D Income

NHS Fife R&D received an allocation from Chief Scientist Office (CSO) of £826,000 in 2020-21 to support clinical research activity and general infrastructure, Commercial Income was £135,603 for this period. A combined total of **£961,603**.

This is relative to £848,000 CSO allocation and £99,850 Commercial Income for 2019/20 (Total £947,850) and £881,000 CSO allocation and £111,412 Commercial Income for 2018/19 (Total £992,412).

The provision of pharmaceuticals study drugs and supplies associated with the implementation and support of clinical trials at NHS Fife leads to significant costs savings for NHS Fife Pharmacy and Medicines. For the period April 2020 to March 2021 these cost savings were **£502,074**.

Innovation

NHS Fife is a member of the South East Region Health Innovation Hub (HISES) and the majority of Innovation activity supported by RIK over the period of April 2020-March 2021 was focused on HISES hosted Small Business Research Initiatives (SBRI's) and supporting a range of regional Innovation projects. These were in the areas of; delayed discharge, multimorbidity, Care Home data, Diabetes and improving Hip Fracture outcomes.

The focus of HISES innovation activity has been directed towards:

- the better management of long term conditions, frailty and multi-morbidity
- enabling people to benefit from healthier living in their homes and communities

NHS Fife was an SBRI Phase 1 test bed for the Kind-o-coin Challenge SBRI (seeking digital solutions to address delayed discharge through connecting volunteers to patients on a discharge pathway) from August to December 2020.

The Kind-o-coin project stemmed from an idea from a clinician in NHS Lothian to create more resilient communities able to better support each other through volunteering and reducing the increasing demands now placed on the wide range of statutory services.

The first innovation challenge was to seek prototype solutions to increase volunteering in the community to support hospital delayed discharges. The challenge was being run in collaboration with Scottish Enterprise, who funding this SBRI through the Can Do Fund (£150,000) and it was tested in five Health and Social Care areas within the East Region, including Fife H&SCP.

NHS Fife were partnered with Uppertunity a Fife based social Community Interest Company (CIC) as the lead company. Uppertunity also worked with SCIENAP (Science and Engineering Applications Ltd.) on this challenge.

NHS Fife H&SCP staff involved in supporting this SBRI included Donna Hughes (Head, Person Centred Care Relations), Belinda Morgan (General Manager), Alayne Early (Team Lead Community Nursing), Amy Walker (Volunteer Development Lead) and Torfinn Thorjborgsen (Head of Information Services).

Phase 1 aimed to develop a feasible solution that would enable people awaiting discharge from hospital, but are prevented from doing this due to the lack of someone (a friend/relative, care provider) being available, to then be securely connected with a registered volunteer who with their approval would be available to support them in safely getting settled back in their home.

Phase 1 relaunched, after being paused due to COVID-19, on the 10th August and came to an end on 30th November 2020. The 5 companies from Phase 1 submitted end of Phase 1 reports in December 2020, Uppertunity and SCIENAP proposed a digital solution, CHAI (Connected Health Administration Interface) to integrate health and social care data using a mobile data healthcare collaboration protocol to enable healthcare staff to connect more directly with volunteers.

- The 5 companies from Phase 1 submitted end of Phase 1 reports in December 2020.
- Phase 2 will run for up to 12 months, from November 2021 and will present the opportunity for two successful companies from Phase 1 to further develop and evaluate their prototype solution in a real-world setting.

Library and Knowledge Service

The Library and Knowledge Service continued to support NHS Fife staff during the difficult circumstances of the pandemic. Like many office-based services, Library and Knowledge Service staff worked from home for most of 2020-21 adapting to new ways of working. Core functions were maintained as far as possible and new technology such as Microsoft Teams allowed us to keep in contact with our local users, immediate colleagues and the wider NHSS library network.

Core business activity

Activity	Number
Library patrons:	
Total number of registered library users at 31 st March 2021	2,234
New borrowers registered	402
Library bookstock:	
Total number of books in stock	3,726
Books added to stock	13
Book loans:	
Book loans from own stock to NHS Fife patrons	97
Book loans from own stock to external Boards' patrons	31
Book loans to NHS Fife patrons supplied by external Board libraries	43
Book renewals	175
Book returns	189
Resource Sharing requests:	
Journal articles requested from the British Library	70
Books borrowed from the British Library	22
Journal articles supplied from national ejournal subscriptions	52
Literature searches / evidence searches / scoping searches	25

Number of registered individuals with a Library/Athens account at 31/3/21:	NHS Fife workforce (headcount):	% of workforce registered with library:
2,234	9,609	23.25%



Library/Athens accounts by profession

NHS Fife Service Review 2020/21 – Library and Knowledge Service

Objective	Progress
Ensure budgetary cost-efficiency targets are met: carry out a review of travel expenses.	Savings have been made to the travel expenses budget by ensuring that regular visits to Stratheden Library are made by the member of staff who lives geographically closest thus incurring no additional travel costs.
Work with NHS Education for Scotland to avoid duplicate purchasing of journal articles by NHSS libraries from the British Library. Although BL costs are met nationally, this local action will contribute to national cost savings.	All journal article pdfs from the British Library are now saved and recorded locally for re-use by NHSS staff. New workflows are now embedded.
Work with Pharmacy Dept to provide training sessions to enable NHS Fife pharmacists to answer the full range of drug-related enquiries they receive locally.	This has already been reported on under the "User support" heading.
Participate in the Eido Inform trial for NHSS (Eido Inform is a collection of procedure-specific informed consent documents covering the most common surgical/medical procedures. The service provides up-to-date, peer-reviewed patient information on nearly 400 procedures in pdf format to be printed or emailed direct to the patient. It is both a risk management tool and a patient information service . The overall aim of the trial is to raise awareness of the service among clinicians to establish whether there is interest in a national subscription to this resource).	This trial did not go ahead due to the Covid pandemic.
Review and update local documents and procedures regarding literature searching training, stock selection, and stock management to ensure a standardised and consistent approach in the department.	Carried forward to 2021/22.

4. Clinical Researcher Career Spotlight – Devesh Dhasmana



Dr Devesh Dhasmana is a Consultant in Respiratory Medicine and was actively engaged, as a Principal Investigator, in all the COVID-19 clinical research studies over the peak period of the pandemic in 2020/21. Dr Dhasmana shared his views about his clinical research career in an interview with Professor Frances Quirk.

Early Interest in Research

As a child Devesh really enjoyed watching Detective movies and TV series, such as Inspector Clouseau and Columbo and fancied the idea of being a Detective but didn't fancy the risk of being killed!

"wouldn't it be great to have a job with an element of discovery"

This early interest in discovery led Devesh to a career in clinical medicine and to incorporate research into his clinical career as soon as he could.

Devesh was only the second person on the combined MBPhD program at University College London after completing a successful intercalated BSc.

"really enjoyed the science"

The focus of Devesh's PhD was Neuroscience, investigating how to support the regeneration of Schwann cells in the brain. Whilst he enjoyed the topic and the basic science within he decided Neurology was not for him as a Speciality.

Devesh's greater interest became infection and respiratory infection specifically.

Respiratory Medicine brought Devesh to NHS Fife and he was successful in being awarded an NRS Fellowship (2015-2018). Trying to balance the 'day a week' of research time with a full clinical load proved tricky and it took Devesh 2 years to work out a model that gave him more flexibility to be clinically and research active and to add in some academic time at the University of St Andrews.

Research Motivation and Success

Devesh is motivated by questioning the boundaries of what we know, the notion of what matters most to the patient.

"marrying what you can do in theory with what you should do in practice"

Devesh believes it's important to get the right information, the right test for the right person at the right time. In the context of respiratory infection, knowing when to treat and how best to treat can make a big difference.

"want to make the most of the interface between science and clinical practice, bringing the science closer to the coal face"

Devesh's ambition would be to have a self-contained Respiratory Unit with clinical medicine and research working alongside each other for the benefit of patients. He has a 'MasterPlan' for respiratory medicine over the next 5 years!

Career Highlights

Devesh really enjoyed seeing his first lead author paper published, it was a long time coming!

"it's vain but I really enjoyed it"

What does the Future Look Like?

Devesh's goal is to be able to provide the best care for Fife patients and citizens with respiratory infections.

"want Fifers to get a really good deal"

Good care is the blend of good medicine and good clinical research, ideally delivered in the context of a dedicated Clinical Respiratory Unit.

Advice For Those Thinking About Undertaking Research

Start small and get as much exposure as you can from anywhere you can. Get involved in audit or quality improvement or if possible be a small part of a big trial.

"can have exposure to research in so many ways in today's healthcare"

Devesh advises those interested in starting a research career or interest to pipe up and ask

"show me what you do"

The moment they see it they will know what they like and don't like, what really fires their interest, and how they might like to take this further.

For students, if clinical research is not in the curriculum, reach out to your local scientists or clinicians who are showing an interest in clinical research. Most successful researchers are natural collaborators and would happily extend opportunities to interested students or at least just show them what they are doing. The research community is a welcoming and open community, so just ask to find out more!

5. Research, Innovation and Knowledge Support

5.1 R&D Nursing



From left to right: Lead R&D Nurse Karen Gray, R&D Nursing Support Officer Joanna Driscoll

Nursing Team: Lead R&D Nurse Karen Gray leads the nursing team of 21. This consists of 10 Senior Research Nurses, 5 Research Nurses, 5 Clinical Research Assistants and a Nursing Support Officer.

Activity: 2020/21 was an unusual year for activity within R&D and for the nursing team. With the pandemic hitting early in March 2020 we quickly had to redirect resources to Urgent Public Health (UPH) studies and suspend all non-essential research. We recruited our first Covid-19 patients in early April 2020 to the RECOVERY study.

We were fortunate to be able to keep some essential drug trials in Dermatology, Haematology and Oncology open throughout to ensure our patients on drug studies did not suffer any detriment. While we lost some staff to assist with the clinical effort, we had fantastic support from NHS Fife management to continue and deliver on urgent research priorities.

The R&D nursing team supports 95 active studies recruiting and in follow-up. This includes drug studies, non drug studies, and commercial and academic research studies.

Most of our priority studies this year have been COVID studies, including RECOVERY, ISARIC, GenOMICC, RECOVERY RS, STOP Covid and SIREN.

Highlights: The highlights this year has to be the fantastic response and team work the research nurses have shown in adapting to the pandemic. Suspending studies and being relocated, working with different staff and responding to urgent set up of priority studies created some anxieties for the staff. Working with Covid-19 patients in the early days of the pandemic was an uncertain time for us all but the nurses got on with the job demonstrating their professionalism and working in extremely difficult circumstances.

NHS Fife has been in the top 5 recruiting sites in Scotland several times for RECOVERY and STOP-Covid and despite many challenges; we have opened the SIREN study which was seeking to recruit over 600 NHS Fife staff to the study. This important study seeks to determine if the presence of COVID-19 antibodies is associated with a reduction in the risk of re-infection.

Motivation: Following such an uncertain year in research where we have had to adapt to changes several times, the teams continued enthusiasm, motivation and determination has never failed. The nursing team has pulled together and worked with new team members and sometimes on unfamiliar specialties to deliver the highest quality urgent public health research as quickly as possible in an extremely challenging environment. Once the call to prioritise UPH studies came in, the team quickly and efficiently set to work suspending non essential studies, opening Covid studies in super fast time and working round the clock to make sure all of NHS Fife patients were afforded the same opportunities as everyone else.

The nursing team has been truly amazing over the past year and continues to develop and deliver on every COVID-19 study in Fife.

The Oncology Team



Clinical Research Staff (from left to right):

Fiona Adam (Senior Research Nurse), Julie Penman (Research Nurse), Sophie Iwanikiw (Clinical Research Assistant)

Principal Investigators: Dr Sally Clive (Colorectal), Dr Catriona McLean (Colorectal), Dr Marjory MacLennan (Breast), Dr Caroline Michie (Breast), Mr HamidRaiss-Ahmad (Breast), Dr Joanna Bowden (Palliative Care), Ms Irene Russell (Urogynae).

Summary of Activity: The Oncology team have been contributing to research in Fife with help from the Scottish Cancer Research Network for many years. The team support a wide variety of specialties including breast, colorectal, lung and pancreatic cancers. While collaborating closely with visiting consultants the team work hard to provide opportunities to allow Fife patients access to trials locally.

Recruiting Studies: ADD-ASPIRIN (3 cohorts), MENAC, POSNOC, SOCCS3, ROSELEE

Studies in Follow-up: SoFEA, PRIMEII, TACT2, SUPREMO, SOLE, BIG3-07, ARISTOTLE, FAST-FORWARD, EORTC 10085, TOPSY

Highlights: Highlights this year must include the group effort, sacrifices made and collaboration of so many, during the height of the pandemic. Our team received a Certificate of Achievement

from the TOPSY study, acknowledging that NHS Fife "completed the TOPSY paperwork to the highest standard and in the most timely manner". This was truly welcomed after hitting our recruitment target, earlier in the year.

Personal Statements/Motivation: Research activity in 2020 was swiftly diverted from Oncology to facilitate study set up and recruitment for the RECOVERY and RECOVERY RS, COVID-19 studies. While essential Oncology drug trials continued we also worked alongside Infectious Disease and Respiratory colleagues helping with the COVID-19 research effort. This was a fantastic opportunity to do some very worthwhile acute research and clinical work which is very different to the team's usual studies.

"What motivates me (Fiona Adam) is leading a strong, dedicated, enthusiastic team, who during such uncertain times, pulled together, supported each other, and adapted without complaint...to our new normal."

The Orthopaedic Team



Clinical Research Staff (from left to right):

Claire Stewart (Senior Research Nurse), Sue Pick (Clinical Research Assistant), Julia Sutherland (Research Nurse), Zunera Ali (Research Nurse)

Principal Investigators: Philip Walmlsey (Orthopaedic Consultant), Mr Andy Ballantyne (Orthopaedic Consultant), Mr Adeel Ahktar (Orthopaedic Consultant) and Mr Melvin Carew (Emergency Medicine Consultant)

Summary of Activity: The Orthopaedic team was set up late 2019 to support a growing portfolio of Orthopaedic studies and a high level of engagement with the clinical team. The team facilitates a mixture of interventional and observational studies. The research team work closely with the clinical staff to open and set up new studies within NHS Fife and help to carry out activities such as recruitment, patient follow up and ongoing management of the studies until completed.

Studies Recruiting: Workwell, FAME, CRAFFT, ATTUNE, SCIENCE, PROPHER 2

Studies in Set up: CORE Kids, HP15 Mobile Link Hip Study,

Highlights: The nursing team received much deserved praise for recruited the 100th patient into the FAME trail. Robert Norrie, from Glenrothes agreed to feature in our Twitter feed proudly displaying his certificate congratulating him on being their 100th patient. The nursing team received much deserved praise for recruited the 100th patient.

Motivation: Being such a new team has brought its challenges but the engagement from the clinical team in Orthopaedics has been fantastic and has led to a strong collaboration between research and clinical staff. The development of the new Centre for Excellence Orthopaedic Centre in Fife is an amazing opportunity to continue to deliver and expand cutting edge Orthopaedic research to the people of Fife.

The Respiratory Team



Clinical Research Staff (from left to right): Senior Research Nurse Angela Scullion, Research Nurse Amanda McGregor and Clinical Research Assistant Emma Simpson

Principal Investigators: Dr Devesh Dhasmana (Respiratory Consultant) Dr Jo Bowden (Palliative Care Consultant) Derek Sloan (Infectious Disease Consultant) Dr Patrick Lui (Respiratory Consultant) Dr Ian Fairbairn (Respiratory Consultant) Joe MacKenzie (Respiratory Consultant) Dr Mike McMahon (Consultant Anaesthetist)

Summary of Activity: NHS Fife respiratory clinical trials team was initially set up in October 2020 in response to a significant increase in our Covid-19 trials workload. The team is made up of Senior Research Nurse, Angela Scullion, Research Nurse, Amanda McGregor and Clinical Research Assistant Emma Simpson with the purpose of helping and supporting busy clinicians to undertake research in Fife. Vital medical research into possible treatments to help patients with COVID-19 is already showing encouraging results.

Recruiting Studies: RECOVERY, ENSEMBLE 2, ISARIC

Studies in Set up: MABEL, ECBS, PROSPECT

Highlights: During the first months working on Covid wards the team managed to recruit the 100th patient into the RECOVERY study in January 2021, recruiting 125 by March and NHS Fife are particularly pleased to be part of the ENSEMBLE 2 vaccine study working in collaboration with Tayside on the first Hub & Spoke study model in Scotland. This allowed 24 Fife patients access to the vaccine in Tayside while benefitting from local follow up in NHS Fife.

Personal Statements/Motivation: "As a team we are extremely motivated and work particularly hard on Covid studies to ensure that we optimise participant recruitment in order to establish new treatments quickly and effectively and offer patients every possible opportunities".

Study websites
https://isaric.org/
https://genomicc.org/
https://warwick.ac.uk/fac/sci/med/research/ctu/trials/recovery-rs/
https://stop-covid19.org.uk/
https://snapsurvey.phe.org.uk/siren/
https://www.recoverytrial.net/
https://www.jnj.com/coronavirus/about-phase-3-study-of-our-covid-19-vaccine-candidate
https://isaric4c.net/ or https://isaric.org/
https://www.hull.ac.uk/work-with-us/research/institutes/health-trials/study/morphine-and- breathlessness-study
www.SCIENCEstudy.org
https://crafft-study.digitrial.com/
https://fame-study.digitrial.com/
https://www.nottingham.ac.uk/research/groups/orthopaedicsandtrauma/trauma-research/core- kids.aspx
https://nottinghambrc.nihr.ac.uk/take-part/live-trials/trials/1431-profher-2
http://www.addaspirintrial.org/
http://www.posnoc.co.uk/
https://www.supremo-trial.com/
https://w3.abdn.ac.uk/hsru/TOPSY
https://www.icr.ac.uk/our-research/centres-and-collaborations/centres-at-the-icr/clinical-trials-and- statistics-unit/clinical-trials/sofea
https://www.icr.ac.uk/our-research/centres-and-collaborations/centres-at-the-icr/clinical-trials-and- statistics-unit/clinical-trials/tact2
https://www.ibcsg.org/en/patients-professionals/clinical-trials/closed-trials/223-ibcsg-35-07-sole
http://www.ctc.ucl.ac.uk/TrialDetails.aspx?Trial=82
https://www.icr.ac.uk/our-research/centres-and-collaborations/centres-at-the-icr/clinical-trials-and- statistics-unit/clinical-trials/fast_forward_page
https://www.eortc.org/research_field/clinical-detail/10085p/
https://www.workwelluk.org/
https://www.hull.ac.uk/work-with-us/research/institutes/health-trials/study/morphine-and- breathlessness-study

5.2 R&D Approvals Team



R&D Approvals and Support (from left to right): Aileen Yell (Research Coordinator), Roy Halliday (R&D Support Officer)

The R&D Approvals Team consists of Aileen Yell, Research Coordinator and Linzi Wilson, Approvals Assistant who deal with a variety of approvals related tasks including:

Research Approvals

All research conducted within the NHS must have R&D Management Approval in order to ensure that the legal obligations of the Board are met. Approval also provided insurance/indemnity for research studies under the Clinical Negligence and Other Risks Indemnity Scheme (CNORIS).

The Approvals Team ensure that such research studies are reviewed and approved within national timelines. This can include working with researchers and staff to provide advice and assistance around what types of approval are required, reviewing documentation, checking any implications around resource and costing, information governance, risk assessment, arranging contractual reviews, processing Research Passport applications and dealing with any queries which arise during the process. During the year 2020 we received notification of 104 potential new studies. There are generally in excess of 200 research projects active and in follow up in Fife.

Research Amendments

The majority of research projects which are approved will be subject to amendments during the period the studies are active or in follow up. The Approvals Team liaise with local study teams to ensure there are no issues around capacity or resources/costings and review and process the amendments timeously. During the year 2020 we received and processed 212 study amendments.

R&D Support Officer

Roy Halliday, provides overall administrative support to the R&D Department, including being a primary point of contact for the R&D Team, responding to all types of enquiries, organising and minuting of meetings, regular production of R&D Bulletin, providing support to the Assistant RIK Director and other team members where required. The R&D Support Officer is also responsible for processing of feasibility requests, ordering via the e-Procurement Scotland system (PECOS), Scottish Standard Time System (SSTS) and assisting with the delivery of the R&D Education Programme.

Highlights

The team have been involved in the implementation of the EDGE Research Management Platform, particularly in relation to the creation and modification of Approvals and Amendment Workflows, Attributes, the creation of new studies, updating and maintaining accurate records in relation to existing studies, amendments, etc.

The team have successfully transitioned from full time office work to working flexibly between home and office without any significant impact on our target timelines.

5.3 Quality and Performance



Quality and Performance (from left to right): Julie Aitken (Quality and Performance Team Lead), Penny Trotter (Quality and Performance Assistant)

The R&D Quality & Performance Team, consisting of Julie Aitken (R&D Quality and Performance Lead) and Penny Trotter (R&D Quality and Performance Assistant), are responsible for a number of important activities including:

Management of SOPs and Work Instructions

Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) and Work Instructions (WIs) are vital to ensure efficient, controlled and uniform conduct across all studies. The R&D Quality and Performance Team ensure all SOPs and Work Instructions are constructed in accordance with the standard format, regularly reviewed and distributed and made available to staff as appropriate.

We work with R&D Department admin and research staff to review the content of these documents and suggest improvements, as well as identifying gaps in the existing suite of documents where new procedures are required. This is an ongoing cycle and feeds in to the continuous development of the department.

Between April 2020 and March 2021 16 SOPs and 6 Work Instructions and their associated forms and templates were reviewed, updated and re-issued. No new SOPs or WIs (version 1) were issued in this time period.

Audit

The team are responsible for performing audits across all the clinical research conducted in NHS Fife. This covers a wide range of activities, looking at studies and their activities as well as procedures within the R&D Department itself. The audits are intended not only to ensure compliance to SOPs, WIs and study protocols but to assist those being audited by identifying and addressing issues and helping to identify improvements that can be made to streamline processes.

Between April 2020 and March 2021 formal audits were conducted for the following studies:

- R&D Ref: 20-092 Obese Healthcare Workers Physical Activity and Healthy Eating
- R&D Ref: 20-009 COVID-19 ISARIC/WHO Clinical Characterisation Protocol for Severe Emerging Infections

Tracking Research Activity and Performance

The team liaise with research teams to review study progress and timelines, collate recruitment figures and update local and national databases to track all research activity in NHS Fife.

Highlights

Implementation of Q-Pulse

We began implementing the use of the Document Management System Q-Pulse at the start of 2020, initially just using the Documents module. Each new/revised document is uploaded to Q-Pulse and sent for acknowledgement to appropriate staff and this has proved invaluable for keeping track of our SOPs and WIs and for distributing them to appropriate staff.

We have now extended the use of Q-Pulse to include the Assets module to record the maintenance and calibration of equipment.

We would like to thank Ken Campbell, Laboratory Service Manager, for his patience and help getting Q-Pulse set-up.

Implementation of the EDGE Research Management Platform

Over the last year the team have been busy working with the R&D Approvals Team, Clinical Trials Pharmacy Team and R&D research teams to implement the use of the EDGE Research Management Platform which has helped streamline the process of tracking research activity. All R&D approvals processes and study set-up processes are recorded and tracked on EDGE, details of all recruits are added and study documentation stored on the system. This has helped improve communication between the various team and allows recruitment activity to be collated quickly.

The R&D Quality and Performance Team have delivered EDGE training sessions to assist research teams with the tracking of recruitment activity and the management of study set-up processes using workflows and entities and they are available to assist research teams with queries as they arise.

5.4 Education and Training

During 2020-2021 our Senior Research Advisors gave 162 advice "events" which were delivered via email, Microsoft Teams or by telephone to 50 members of staff, plus 1 external individual. Advice sought related to study design (24%), statistics (10%), approvals – R&D, ethics, IRAS (12%), grant applications (18%), degree projects 4%), general support (22%) and writing up (10%). 12 Training sessions took place via Microsoft TEAMS with a total of 40 attendees.

Many of our training courses were cancelled during 2020/21 and while we normally offer national Good Clinical Practice (GCP) training on a quarterly basis, Covid restrictions meant that face to face training was not possible. Researchers and staff who required GCP training during this time were directed to the NIHR online resources where both an Introduction to GCP and an update course are available. GCP was re-introduced early in the year following a socially distanced model.

5.5 Library and Knowledge Service



The Library Services team (from left to right):

Wendy Haynes (Librarian), Missing from picture Hannah Coulston (Librarian) Alan Mill, Library Assistant and Marie Smith (Library Services Manager)

The Library & Knowledge Service (LKS) continued to provide individual and small group training sessions to support information literacy skills development in the workforce. The sessions involve training in the use of a range of online resources including bibliographic databases, e-journals, e-books and reference management software. We carried out seven training sessions for individuals during 2020-21. This is a reduction in numbers from previous years (12 sessions in 2019-20, 24 sessions in 2018-19) but demand is increasing again as staff adapt to using Teams.

In addition, we were approached by the Senior Pharmacist for Education and Training to support the department in bringing the Medicines Information (MI) service in-house. The pharmacists who will provide this service required additional training in evidence searching to enable them to answer complex MI enquiries. The Library and Knowledge Service designed and delivered a short training programme, containing both demonstrations and hands-on elements that were well received. Sessions have been delivered to post-graduate foundation trainee pharmacists and there are plans to extend this to foundation pharmacists in future. The programme is also available as a recording for members of pharmacy staff to access as required. We received excellent feedback from participants who appreciated our friendly approach and thorough overview of resources.

Highlights

New Meta Data Editor

Library resources both print and online, are catalogued using the Library Management System, Alma. One of the Library team members was involved in the national cataloguing support group which piloted new cataloguing software in late 2020. Following implementation of the new software, the LKS team member was involved in revising the workflow documentation, providing training resources and demonstrations, and providing ongoing peer support across NHSS libraries.

KIND course pilot

In early 2021 a member of the library team participated in a pilot programme to assess materials for a new course that is being developed for the KIND workforce. The KIND workforce comprises staff that have the management of knowledge, information and data as a core element of their role. The four pilot modules, developed by NHS Education for Scotland, the Digital Health & Care Institute, and Public Health Scotland, were undertaken by a range of staff from the KIND workforce across Scotland. Library staff were given the opportunity to participate in the pilot and provide feedback which will enable course content to be refined and finalised.

Physical collection

We undertook a review of the physical book collection to improve display and accessibility. While continuing to stock essential textbooks, we have focussed on resources to support staff well-being, research and professional development.

6. Research, Innovation and Knowledge Participants/User Experience

R&D Participants Experience



Mr Robert Norrie (pictured left) was featured in the UK FAME study newsletter recently.

The multicentre FAME study is a clinical trial looking at two different standard care treatment types for ankle fractures in adults aged up to 60. Participants will be followed over 10 years to see the outcomes for surgical treatment (plates and screws) versus non-operative treatment (a close contact cast which is a special snug fit plaster cast). This information will help improve treatment for future patients with similar injuries.

The FAME study at NHS Fife was led by Mr Phil Walmsley and Muhammad Adeel Ahktar, and NHS Fife R&D Senior Nurse Claire Stewart, the team give a big thank you to Fife patients like Mr Norrie who are taking part. The multi-disciplinary team are invaluable in helping the R&D team produce high quality research data and immense gratitude also goes to theatre and ward staff, the radiology team, orthopaedic clinic staff and orthopaedic plaster technicians.

Quote from a monitor following a visit to NHS Fife

"It was an absolute pleasure to visit your site in person yesterday and meet your team. They have been doing a wonderful job, working to an exceptionally high standard to ensure that all sources have been clearly documented and the protocol is being followed closely. Given the current circumstances of working in a pandemic too, along with the challenges that this study had faces with couriers and drug shipment I wanted to really stress how impressed I am with how amazing your team has done, so thank you."

Quote from Miss Caitlin Cameron, Dermatology patient

"The Research Staff have been amazing and extremely helpful. I was amazed they were still allowed to do the study throughout lockdown.

I was so happy that they were able to come to my flat instead of me risking catching COVID to come to hospital. This study has changed my life."

Library and Knowledge Service User Experience

Topic - Cancer-related fatigue

"[The evidence search] allowed us to update the resources we use for training/education [of OT staff]."

"[The evidence search] allowed us to update the resources we provide to patients/carers."

"Thank you for your help – responded very quickly and information provided was well presented and easy to access."

Topic - SLT interventions for adults with learning disabilities

"[The evidence search] supports our decision-making on next steps. We still have further scoping work to be done but [the] research provided will help inform future plans for service development around targeted work for adults with learning disability."

"I have accessed the library services several times over the years for support on literature services and always found staff extremely helpful and efficient. This is an excellent service."

7. NRS Fellowship Support Scheme Awards

Completing Fellowship Award-Joanna Bowden

NHS Fife and the University of St. Andrews jointly sponsored a targeted call for applications, in March 2020, for a support scheme to provide recently completed or completing NRS Fellows with the equivalent of a day a week for 24 months to continue the research programme developed through their NRS Fellowship. This was a competitive call and Dr Joanna Bowden (Consultant in Palliative Care) was the successful applicant. Dr Joanna Bowden shared what motivates her to be a research engaged clinician.



What motivates you to fit research into your busy clinical life?

My research work is heavily informed by my clinical practice – specifically by the shortfalls in clinical interventions, pathways and systems that impact negatively on patient experiences and outcomes. Knowing that we can address these issues by developing an evidence base for practice is a powerful motivator. At a personal level, I really enjoy having variety in my working week, undertaking a spectrum of activities with colleagues with whom I share a common goal.

Why did you apply for the NRS Fellows Support Scheme?

I had completed a three year research fellowship (NRS Career Researcher scheme) in March 2021, during which time I grew from someone with an interest in research, who could support others' research in Fife, to someone with the skills and confidence to develop my own research ideas and to see these materialise into studies. Securing funding from the Health Foundation for a large regional study was a great boost, as was securing endowment funding for a Fife-based study of the reality of end of life care in the community during the Covid-19 pandemic. The Fellows Support Scheme will enable me to continue progress these studies and to build stronger links with academic colleagues in the University of St Andrews, aiming for a strong and effective programme of Fife-led palliative care research for the future.

What will be the benefits of your project for our patients and for your service?

The research work I undertake, as part of multidisciplinary research teams, is primarily focused on improving our understanding of current experiences, pathways and outcomes, with a view to making policy and practice recommendations and influencing clinical care for the better. This should benefit future patients in Fife, but also nationally and beyond. In addition, I am the Principal Investigator for two clinical trials in Fife, both for people with advanced disease, testing new interventions for symptom management. Being a research active clinical team means that patients in Fife with advanced illnesses can participate in research, which can benefit them in a great variety of ways; including the reward that they are helping others in their position in the future (altruism) and receiving additional close support and follow-up by skilled research clinicians. It is also the case research drives higher clinical standards in the here and now, promoting a culture of critical thinking and evidence based practice. Finally, being research active is a great way of promoting the positive contribution that palliative care can make for individuals and those close to them, as well as the health and social care systems and society more generally.

What advice would you give to other clinicians/health professionals thinking about applying for funding for research support?

I would greatly encourage anyone considering applying for funding to approach the R&D department for an informal discussion, and also to get in touch with clinician-academics like me, even if their proposed research is in a completely different area. A move into research alongside clinical practice can feel daunting, but with the right support can be rewarding and enriching. Research offers so many great opportunities for learning and development, as well as for working with people with completely different skill sets to your own, and all with improving patient care at the centre. What's not to like?

Aspiring Fellowship Award – Adeel Ahktar

NHS Fife RIK sponsored a targeted call for applications, in March 2020, for a Support Scheme to provide aspiring NRS Fellows with the equivalent of half a day a week for 12 months to develop a high quality application for an NRS Fellowship. This was a competitive call and Mr Mohammed Adeel Ahktar (Consultant in Orthopaedics) was the successful applicant. Mr Mohammed Adeel Ahktar shared what motivates him to be a research engaged clinician.



What motivates you to fit research into your busy clinical life?

I am passionate about evidence based realistic medicine with patients at the heart of any decision making process after receiving appropriate information to make a choice. I have a special interest in improving patient care with end stage arthritis in the presence of Obesity. With the development of new technologies in health care provision, we can provide personalised care to our patients to improve their quality of life. I believe in Research as a life style choice for an intriguing mind to learn from existing knowledge to develop new techniques and treatments for our patients.

Why did you apply for the NRS Fellows Support Scheme?

Lower Limb arthroplasty in obese individuals has higher risks of complications. Weight loss may reduce the risk for developing symptomatic lower limb osteoarthritis and may also lead to the resolution of arthritic symptoms. Musculoskeletal-focused digital apps are increasingly being used for physical therapy and rehabilitation, telehealth, pain management, behavioural health, and remote patient monitoring. I wanted to find out what is available in the literature by doing a scoping review and then use the most helpful intervention in our patients. The main reason to apply for the NRS Fellows Support Scheme was to have dedicated time to develop my application further and apply for the NRS Fellowship.

What will be the benefits of your project for our patients and for your service?

Policy makers and healthcare providers are increasingly interested in the role of Health Informatics and Digital Health in improving Musculoskeletal (MSK) services. My proposed programme of research addresses this and the information generated will be extremely useful to provide excellent MSK care to patients living in Fife and for NHS Fife to become a leader in Digital innovation in health care provision.

What advice would you give to other clinicians/health professionals thinking about applying for funding for research support?

I will encourage everyone working in NHS Fife to discuss their research ideas with the R&D team who can guide you to develop it further. Once you have a clear plan of action then it is possible to apply for funding not only to conduct your research but also to polish that project further with good peer support and advice before you actually start your project like I am doing at present with the NRS Fellows Support Scheme.
8. Opportunities and Challenges

In order to ensure the successful implementation of the NHS Fife Research Strategy a series of annual 'priorities' have been selected from it, to be progressed. An update on identified priorities / challenges to be taken forward within Research and Development in 2019 -20 were as follows:

- **a.** We have continued with the long process of encouraging discussion of research as part of Personal Development Plans within the operational division and CHPs during appraisals of health care staff and this is now part of the e job planning framework
- **b.** R&D participation in the development of the medical and nursing clinical academic career development in Fife has been continued.
- **c.** Preparations for an inspection by the Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency have continued and were implemented and built upon following the inspection in October 2019.
- **d.** Although details of research-related academic degree programmes and bursaries, encouraging staff to apply, have been circulated there were fewer Fife applicants for NRS Research Fellowships.
- **e.** Liaising closely with universities and other academic institutions to establish research programmes by identifying opportunities via NHS Fife endowment funds.
- f. We have continued to support and participate in the NHS Research Scotland (NRS) East Node, establishing joint documentation and actively participating in membership of groups and committees.
- **g.** We have continued to support the Health Informatics Centre (HIC), consolidating and adding to the joint Tayside and Fife HIC Database to facilitate service based evaluations/research.
- **h.** The infrastructure and processes required for NHS Fife to act as Sponsor for increasingly complex studies is being delivered.
- i. Greater activity and collaboration with academics, pharmaceutical and medical device companies are resulting in increased utilisation of the Clinical Research Facility.

Challenges for RIK in 2020-21

During 2020-21 the Research, Innovation and Knowledge teams within NHS Fife have had to adapt to the impact of COVID-19 on the clinical research profile and priorities and changes to ways of working for all areas, as well as maintained recent advances, delivering: research activity focused on COVID-19 and Urgent Public Health studies; compliance with the research governance framework, monitoring 100% of Fife Sponsored studies; the adoption of a revised R&D Education Programme to online delivery for relevant programmes, the adaptation of Library Services to primarily online support. All teams have risen extraordinarily well to these challenges but they have had an impact on productivity, staff wellbeing and ability to address non-COVID-19 related priorities.

R&D Strategy priorities (2020-21)

All activities detailed in the prioritised plan of the R&D Strategy for 2020-21 are ongoing or have been achieved.

9. Conclusions

Significant progress continues to be made implementing many aspects of the Research & Development Strategy, promoting the research agenda, developing a research culture and raising the profile of RIK, whilst continuing to build strong alliances with colleagues with the wider research, innovation and knowledge communities.

The teams within RIK rose to the challenge of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on daily operations and priorities and the Clinical Research Team, led by Karen Gray, are to be particularly commended on their agility, flexibility and high standards of professionalism in meeting the priorities of the Scottish Governments Urgent Public Health studies, maintaining quality and adherence to MHRA guidelines throughout.

The NHS Fife Executive Lead for RIK, RIK Director and Assistant RIK Director have ensured a significant raising of the profile of NHS Fife RIK and the promotion of Fife as an important, emerging player in the current, and future Scottish research agenda

10. Publications

Research and related activity: publications by NHS Fife staff

Produced by NHS Fife Library and Knowledge Service Fife.libraries2@nhs.scot; 01592 643355 ext 28790 NHS Fife Library and Knowledge Service

AhSee, K.L., <u>Blaikie, A.</u>, <u>Boyle, N.</u>, <u>Foulds, J.</u>, <u>Wheeldon, C.</u>, <u>Wilson, P.</u>, <u>Styles, C.</u>, <u>Sutherland, S.</u> and <u>Sanders, R.</u> (2021) **'Cataract surgery redesign: meeting increasing demand, training, audit and patient-centered care.'**, <u>*Clinical Ophthalmology*</u>, 15, pp.289-297.

<u>Akhtar, M.A.</u>, Tyas, B. and Bethapudi, S. (2020) **'A rare case of calcific tendinitis of biceps femoris presenting with lateral knee pain.'**, <u>Journal of Clinical Orthopaedics &</u> <u>Trauma</u>, 11(Suppl 4), pp.S660-S662.

<u>Akhtar, M.A.</u>, Edwards, J., Tate, R., Curzon, I. and Montgomery, R.J. (2021) **'Central acetabular roof defect - more than just a normal variant?'**, <u>Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic</u> <u>Research</u>, 15(3), pp.TR01-TR04.

Alford, M., O'Rourke, S., <u>Doyle, P.</u> and Todd, L. (2020) **'Examining the factors associated with impulsivity in forensic populations: a** systematic review.', <u>Aggression and Violent Behavior</u>, 54, Article number: 101409.

<u>Allcoat, P., Hart, S., Hailwood, S.J.</u> and <u>McLaren, J.S.</u> (2020) 'Real life experience of tocilizumab for the management of giant cell arteritis in Fife, Scotland.', <u>*Rheumatology (United Kingdom)*</u>, Conference, 59(Suppl 2), pp.ii88-ii89.

Ayer, M.G., Vernon, K., Wilkinson, C., <u>Kearney, L.</u> and Hamill, B. (2020) '(PGM11) collaborative working between multiple sclerosis (MS) nurses and a pharmaceutical company: An educational project from the consortium of multiple sclerosis centers (CMSC) conference, Seattle, 2019...2020 virtual annual meeting of the consortium of multiple sclerosis centers, May 26-29, 2020.', <u>International Journal of MS Care</u>, 22, (S2), pp.59-60.

<u>Bannon, R.</u>, <u>Stewart, K.E.</u> and <u>Bannister, M.</u> (2020) **'Non-technical skills and otolaryngology:** systematic review', <u>Journal of Laryngology & Otology</u>, 134(5), pp.415-418.

Bell, S., Campbell, J., McDonald, J., O'Neill, M., Watters, C., <u>Buck, K.</u>, Cousland, Z., Findlay, M., Lone, N.I., Metcalfe, W., Methven, S., Peel, R., Almond, A., Sanu, V., Spalding, E., Thomson, P.C., Mark, P.B., Traynor, J.P. and Scottish Renal Registry. (2020) 'COVID-19 in patients undergoing chronic kidney replacement therapy and kidney transplant recipients in Scotland: Findings and experience from the Scottish Renal Registry.', <u>BMC Nephrology</u>, 21(1), pp.419.

Bowen, R.K. and <u>Koutsavlis, I.</u> (2020) 'The rare green-blue neutrophil inclusion bodies. Worth reporting in blood films? A case of a patient with polytrauma.', <u>*Clinical Case Reports*</u>, 8(12), pp.3549-3550.

Broderick, C., <u>Watson, L.</u> and Armon, M.P. (2021) **'Thrombolytic strategies versus standard** anticoagulation for acute deep vein thrombosis of the lower limb.', <u>Cochrane Database of</u> <u>Systematic Reviews</u>, 1, Article number CD002783.

<u>Buchanan, P.</u> (2020) **'Celebrating nursing during a global pandemic.',** *Dermatological Nursing*, 19(2), pp.8. [No full text available]

<u>Buchanan, P.</u> (2020) **'Doublebas® dayleve® gel: a product review.',** *Dermatological Nursing*, 19(3), pp.20-22. [No full text available]

<u>Buchanan, P.</u> (2020) 'New MHRA emollient guidance offers pause for thought.', *Dermatological Nursing*, 19(3), pp.7. [No full text available]

<u>Buchanan, P.</u> (2020) **'Photodynamic therapy: Summary of BDNG pdt webinars.',** *Dermatological Nursing*, 19(4), pp.26-28. [No full text available]

<u>Burns, J.</u>, Conway, D.I., Gnich, W. and Macpherson, L.M.D. (2021) 'A systematic review of interventions to link families with preschool children from healthcare services to community-based support.', *Journal of Public Health*, 43(2), pp.e224-e235.

Campbell, R.A.S., <u>Colhoun, H.M.</u>, Kennon, B., McCrimmon, R.J., Sattar, N., McKnight, J. and Wild, S.H. (2020) **'Socio-economic status and mortality in people with type 1 diabetes in Scotland 2006-2015: a retrospective cohort study.'**, <u>Diabetic Medicine</u>, 37(12), pp.2081-2088.

Campbell, V., Duguid, A. and <u>Storrar, N.</u> (2020) **'Evaluating vyxeos use in routine clinical practice; data from the South East Scotland cancer network.'**, <u>British Journal of</u> <u>Haematology</u>, Conference: 60th Annual Scientific Meeting of the British Society for Haematology. Birmingham United Kingdom, 189(Suppl 1), pp.192.

Caparrotta, T.M., Greenhalgh, A.M., Osinski, K., Gifford, R.M., Moser, S., Wild, S.H., Reynolds, R.M., Webb, D.J. and <u>Colhoun, H.M.</u> (2021) **'Sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors** (SGLT2i) exposure and outcomes in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review of population-based observational studies.', <u>Diabetes Therapy</u>, 12(4), pp.991-1028.

Caparrotta, T.M., Templeton, J.B., Clay, T.A., Wild, S.H., Reynolds, R.M., Webb, D.J. and <u>Colhoun, H.M.</u> (2021) 'Glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor agonist (GLP1RA) exposure and outcomes in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review of population-based observational studies.', <u>Diabetes Therapy</u>, 12(4), pp.969-989.

Caparrotta, T.M., Blackbourn, L., McGurnaghan, S.J., <u>Chalmers, J.</u>, Lindsay, R., McCrimmon, R., McKnight, J., Wild, S., Petrie, J.R., Philip, S., McKeigue, P.M., Webb, D.J., Sattar, N., <u>Colhoun,</u> <u>H.M.</u> and Scottish Diabetes Research Network Epidemiology Group (2020) **'Prescribing paradigm shift? Applying the 2019 European Society of Cardiology-led guidelines on** diabetes, prediabetes, and cardiovascular disease to assess eligibility for sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitors or glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor agonists as first-line monotherapy (or add-on to metformin monotherapy) in type 2 diabetes in Scotland.', <u>Diabetes Care</u>, 43(9), pp.2034-2041.

Carosso, A., Cosma, S., Serafini, P., Benedetto, C. and <u>Mahmood, T.</u> (2020) **'How to reduce the potential risk of vertical transmission of SARS-CoV-2 during vaginal delivery?',** <u>European</u> <u>Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, & Reproductive Biology</u>, 250, pp.246-249.

Carreno, G., AlvarezLarran, A., Harrison, C., HernandezBoluda, J.C., FerrerMarin, F., Radia, D., Mora, E., Francis, S., Goddard, K., Narayanan, S., Raya, J.M., Singh, V., Xabier, G., Toth, P., Mcilwaine, L., AlObaidi, M., Mayani, K., Stuckey, R., Segura, A., Alvares, C., <u>Davidson, K.</u>, Osorio, S., Cutting, R., Sweeney, C., Rufian, L., Moreno, L., RosaRosa, J.M., Smith, J., <u>Koutsavlis, I.</u>, Wang, L., Mead, A., Ayala, R., MartinezLopez, J. and Cross, N. (2020) **'Chronic neutrophilic leukemia and atypical chronic myeloid leukemia are highly overlapping disorders. Results from an international British Spanish study.'**, <u>HemaSphere</u>, Conference, 4(Suppl 1), pp.502-503.

<u>Cheng, K.K., Anderson, M.J.</u>, <u>Velissaris, S.</u>, <u>Moreton, R.</u>, <u>AlMansour, A.</u>, <u>Sanders, R.</u>, <u>Sutherland</u>, <u>S.</u>, <u>Wilson, P.</u> and <u>Blaikie, A.</u> (2021) **'Cataract risk stratification and prioritisation protocol in the COVID-19 era.'**, <u>BMC Health Services Research</u>, 21(1), pp.153.

<u>Chia, W.L.</u>, <u>Harrison, F.</u>, <u>Hartley, T.</u>, <u>Szapiro, D.</u> and <u>Dhasmana, D.</u> (2020) **'The burden of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF): a multimodal study of prevalence, healthcare utilization and survival.'**, <u>*European Respiratory Journal*</u>, Conference, 56(Suppl 64).

<u>Chien, S.</u>, <u>Ekatah, G.</u> and <u>Chan, E.</u> (2020) **'Hospital readmissions in general surgery: how can we reduce preventable readmissions?'**, <u>British Journal of Surgery</u>. Conference: Association of Surgeons in Training International Surgical Conference. Birmingham United Kingdom, 107(SUPPL 3), pp.115.

<u>Christopher, E.</u> (2020) **'COVID-19: an opportune period to reform the medical curriculum.',** <u>Journal of the Royal College of Physicians of Edinburgh</u>, 50(3), pp.343-350.

Clifford, C., Challoumas, D., Paul, L., <u>Syme, G.</u> and Millar, N.L. (2020) **'Effectiveness of isometric** exercise in the management of tendinopathy: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised trials.', <u>BMJ Open Sport & Exercise Medicine</u>, 6(1), pp.e000760.

<u>Colhoun, H.M.</u> and McKnight, J. (2020) 'Diabetes in Scotland: a rising tide.', *The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology*, 8(5), pp.375-376. [No full text available]

Colombo, M., Asadi Shehni, A., Thoma, I., McGurnaghan, S.J., Blackbourn, L., Wilkinson, H., Collier, A., Patrick, A.W., Petrie, J.R., McKeigue, P.M., Saldova, R., <u>Colhoun, H.M.</u> and Scottish Diabetes Research Network Type Bioresource Investigators (2021) 'Quantitative levels of serum N-glycans in type 1 diabetes and their association with kidney disease.', <u>Glycobiology</u>, 31(5), pp.613-623. Conway, D.I., Culshaw, S., Edwards, M., Clark, C., Watling, C., Robertson, C., Braid, R., <u>O'Keefe,</u> <u>E., McGoldrick, N., Burns, J.</u>, Provan, S., VanSteenhouse, H., Hay, J., Gunson, R. and Dental COVID Surveillance Survey Group (2021) **'SARS-CoV-2 positivity in asymptomatic-screened dental patients.'**, <u>Journal of Dental Research</u>, 100(6), pp.583-590.

Corcoran, J.P., Psallidas, I., Gerry, S., Piccolo, F., Koegelenberg, C.F., Saba, T., Daneshvar, C., <u>Fairbairn, I.</u>, Heinink, R., West, A., Stanton, A.E., Holme, J., Kastelik, J.A., Steer, H., Downer, N.J., Haris, M., Baker, E.H., Everett, C.F., Pepperell, J., Bewick, T., Yarmus, L., Maldonado, F., Khan, B., HartThomas, A., Hands, G., Warwick, G., De Fonseka, D., Hassan, M., Munavvar, M., Guhan, A., Shahidi, M., Pogson, Z., Dowson, L., Popowicz, N.D., Saba, J., Ward, N.R., Hallifax, R.J., Dobson, M., Shaw, R., Hedley, E.L., Sabia, A., Robinson, B., Collins, G.S., Davies, H.E., Yu, L.M., Miller, R.F., Maskell, N.A. and Rahman, N.M. (2020) **'Prospective validation of the RAPID clinical risk prediction score in adult patients with pleural infection: the PILOT study.',** *European Respiratory Journal***, 56(5), pp.11.**

Courtney, A., O'Connell, R., Rattay, T., Kim, B., Cutress, R.I., Kirwan, C.C., Gandhi, A., Fairbrother, P., Sharma, N., <u>Cartlidge, C.</u>, Horgan, K., McIntosh, S.A., Leff, D.R., Vidya, R., Potter, S., Holcombe, C., Copson, E., Coles, C.E. and Dave, R.V. (2020) **'The B-MaP-C study: Breast cancer management pathways during the COVID-19 pandemic. study protocol.'**, <u>International</u> <u>Journal of Surgery Protocols</u>, 24, pp.1-5.

<u>Crawford, F.</u>, Chappell, F.M., Lewsey, J., Riley, R., Hawkins, N., <u>Nicolson, D.</u>, Heggie, R., Smith, M., Horne, M., <u>Amanna, A.</u>, <u>Martin, A.</u>, <u>Gupta, S.</u>, <u>Gray, K.</u>, Weller, D., Brittenden, J. and Leese, G. (2020) 'Risk assessments and structured care interventions for prevention of foot ulceration in diabetes: Development and validation of a prognostic model', <u>Health</u> <u>Technology Assessment</u> (Winchester, England), 24(62), pp.1-198.

Cronin, O., Subedi, D., Forsyth, L., Goodman, K., Lewis, S.C., Keerie, C., Walker, A., Porteous, M., <u>Cetnarskyj, R.</u>, Ranganath, L.R., Selby, P.L., Hampson, G., Chandra, R., Ho, S., Tobias, J.H., YoungMin, S.A., McKenna, M.J., Crowley, R.K., Fraser, W.D., Tang, J., Gennari, L., Nuti, R., Brandi, M.L., del PinoMontes, J., Devogelaer, J.P., Durnez, A., Isaia, G.C., Di Stefano, M., Rubio, J.B., Guanabens, N., Seibel, M.J., Walsh, J.P., Kotowicz, M.A., Nicholson, G.C., Duncan, E.L., Major, G., Horne, A., Gilchrist, N.L. and Ralston, S.H. (2020) **'Characteristics of early Paget's disease in SQSTM1 mutation carriers: baseline analysis of the ZiPP study cohort.'**, *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 35(7), pp.1246-1252.

Cunningham, K.B., Rogowsky, R.H., Carstairs, S.A., <u>Sullivan, F.</u> and Ozakinci, G. (2021) 'Methods of connecting primary care patients with community-based physical activity opportunities: a realist scoping review', <u>Health & Social Care in the Community</u>, 29(4), pp.1169-1199.

Cunningham, S.G., Urquhart, W.M., <u>Burns, D.</u>, <u>Jamieson, F.</u>, <u>Robertson, S.</u>, Neilan, L., <u>Gillies, N.</u>, MacDonald, N. and <u>Chalmers, J.</u> (2020) **'Data linkage to reduce severe hypoglycaemia.'**, <u>Diabetic Medicine</u>, Conference: Diabetes UK Professional Conference 2020. Glasgow United Kingdom, 37(SUPPL 1), pp.9. <u>Cvoro, V.</u>, Ferguson, K., Levin, D., Reynish, E., Donnan, P., Guthrie, B., Maclullich, A. and Wardlaw, J. (2020) 'Small vessel disease (SVD) in patients with and without delirium in acute medical admissions aged 65 and over: preliminary results.', <u>International Journal of</u> <u>Stroke</u>, Conference, 15(1 Suppl), pp.579.

<u>Cvoro, V.</u>, Ferguson, K., Levin, D., Reynish, E., Donnan, P., Guthrie, B., Maclullich, A. and Wardlaw, J. (2020) **'The distribution of old and new infarcts and other lesions in acute medical patients with and without delirium aged 65 and over: preliminary results.'**, <u>International Journal of Stroke</u>, Conference, 15(1 Suppl), pp.565-566.

da Silva Filipe, A., Shepherd, J.G., Williams, T., Hughes, J., ArandayCortes, E., Asamaphan, P., Ashraf, S., Balcazar, C., Brunker, K., Campbell, A., Carmichael, S., Davis, C., Dewar, R., Gallagher Gunson, R., Hill, V., Ho, A., Jackson, B., James, E., Jesudason, N., Johnson, N., McWilliam Leitch, E.C., Li, K., MacLean, A., Mair, D., McAllister, D.A., McCrone, J.T., McDonald, S.E., McHugh, M.P., <u>Morris, A.K.</u>, Nichols, J., Niebel, M., Nomikou, K., Orton, R.J., O'Toole, A., Palmarini, M., Parcell, B.J., Parr, Y.A., Rambaut, A., Rooke, S., Shaaban, S., Shah, R., Singer, J.B., Smollett, K., Starinskij, I., Tong, L., Sreenu, V.B., Wastnedge, E., COVID Genomics UK Consortium, Holden, M., Robertson, D.L., Templeton, K. and Thomson, E.C. (2021) 'Genomic epidemiology reveals multiple introductions of SARS-CoV-2 from mainland Europe into Scotland.', <u>Nature</u> <u>Microbiology</u>, 6(1), pp.112-122.

Dave, R.V., Kim, B., Courtney, A., O'Connell, R., Rattay, T., Taxiarchi, V.P., Kirkham, J.J., Camacho, E.M., Fairbrother, P., Sharma, N., <u>Cartlidge, C.</u>, Horgan, K., McIntosh, S.A., Leff, D.R., Vidya, R., Potter, S., Holcombe, C., Copson, E., Coles, C.E., Cutress, R.I., Gandhi, A., Kirwan, C.C. and B.MaP.C. (2021) 'Breast cancer management pathways during the COVID-19 pandemic: Outcomes from the UK 'alert level 4' phase of the B-MaP-C study.', <u>British Journal of</u> <u>Cancer</u>, 124(11), pp.1785-1794.

Davidson, K., Boyle, A., Barclay, S., <u>Boxall, E.</u>, Fleming, C., Gossman, P., McAvennie, J., Reilly, E., Sheridan, E., Sommerville, A. and Marra, F. (2020) **'The quetiapine question: management strategies for drug-drug interactions with antipsychotics and direct acting antivirals; a multicentre review.'**, *Journal of Hepatology*. *Conference: EASL: The Digital International Liver Congress. Virtual, Online*, 73(Supplement 1) (pp S349), pp.S349.

DeJong, C., DeJong Verhagen, J.G., Pols, R., Verbrugge, C. and <u>Baldacchino,</u> <u>A.</u> (2020) **'Psychological impact of the acute COVID-19 period on patients with substance use disorders: We are all in this together.'**, <u>Basic and Clinical Neuroscience</u>, 11(2), pp.207-216.

<u>Dewey, R.</u> (2020) **'The unwelcome breech: a discussion on the management of breech birth in the UK',** *MIDIRS Midwifery Digest*, 30(4), pp.497-502. [No full text available]

Diernberger, K., Luta, X., <u>Bowden, J.</u>, Fallon, M., Droney, J., Lemmon, E., Gray, E., Marti, J. and Hall, P. (2021) **'Healthcare use and costs in the last year of life: a national population data linkage study.'**, <u>BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care</u>. Doggui, R., Elsawy, W., Conti, A.A. and <u>Baldacchino, A.</u> (2021) **'Association between chronic psychoactive substances use and systemic inflammation: a systematic review and meta-analysis'**, <u>Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews</u>, 125, pp.208-220.

Dunne, P., Sinha, R., Stanley, A.J., Lachlan, N., Ireland, H., <u>Shams, A.</u>, Kasthuri, R., Forrest, E.H. and Hayes, P.C. (2020) **'Randomised clinical trial: standard of care versus early-transjugular intrahepatic porto-systemic shunt (TIPSS) in patients with cirrhosis and oesophageal variceal bleeding.', <u>Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics</u>, 52(1), pp.98-106.**

Falconer, R., <u>Semple, C.M.</u>, Walker, K.G., Cleland, J. and Watson, A.J.M. (2021) **'Simulation for technical skill acquisition in open vascular surgery'**, <u>Journal of Vascular Surgery</u>, 73(5), pp.1821-1827.e2.

Fawke, J., Tinnion, R.J., Monnelly, V., <u>Ainsworth, S.B.</u>, Cusack, J. and Wyllie, J. (2020) **'How does the BAPM framework for practice on perinatal management of extreme preterm birth before 27 weeks of gestation impact delivery of newborn life support? A Resuscitation Council UK response'**, <u>Archives of Disease in Childhood Fetal & Neonatal Edition</u>, 105(6), pp.672-674.

Gibb, F., Jeyam, A., McKnight, J., Kennon, B., McGurnaghan, S., Blackbourn, L.A.K., McKeigue, P. and <u>Colhoun, H.M.</u> (2020) **'Marked improvements in HbA1c following flashmonitor initiation in people with type 1 diabetes: A nationwide observational study in Scotland.'**, <u>Diabetologia</u>. *Conference: 56th Annual Meeting of the European Association for the Study of Diabetes, EASD* 2020.Virtual, 63(SUPPL 1), pp.S338.

Glasbey, J.C. ... <u>Akhtar, M.A.</u>, <u>Brunt, A.</u>, <u>McIntyre, J.</u>, <u>Milne, K.</u>, <u>Rashid, M.M.</u>, <u>Sgro, A.</u>, <u>Stewart, K.E.</u>, <u>Turnbull, A.</u> et al (2021) 'Elective cancer surgery in COVID-19-free surgical pathways during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic: An international, multicenter, comparative cohort study.', *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 39(1), pp.66-78.

<u>Grant, H.</u> (2021) **'An audit of general anaesthetic drug dosing in obese patients.'**, <u>Anaesthesia</u>. Conference: Winter Scientific Meeting of the Association of Anaesthetists of Great Britain and Ireland, AAGBI WSM 2021.Virtual, 76(SUPPL 2), pp.41.

Hallifax, R.J., McKeown, E., Sivakumar, P., <u>Fairbairn, I.</u>, Peter, C., Leitch, A., Knight, M., Stanton,
A., Ijaz, A., Marciniak, S., Cameron, J., Bhatta, A., Blyth, K.G., Reddy, R., Harris, M.C., Maddekar,
N., Walker, S., West, A., LaskawiecSzkonter, M., Corcoran, J.P., Gerry, S., Roberts, C., Harvey,
J.E., Maskell, N., Miller, R.F. and Rahman, N.M. (2020) 'Ambulatory management of primary
spontaneous pneumothorax: an open-label, randomised controlled
trial.', *Lancet*, 396(10243), pp.39-49.

Hallifax, R., McKeown, E., Sivakumar, P., <u>Fairbairn, I.</u>, Peter, C., Leitch, A., Knight, M.J., Stanton,
A.E., Ijaz, A., Marciniak, S.J., Cameron, J., Amrithraj Bhatta, A., Blyth, K.G., Reddy, R., Harris, M.,
Maddekar, N., Walker, S.P., West, A., LaskawiecSzkonter, M., Corcoran, J.P., Gerry, S., Roberts,
C., Harvey, J.E., Maskell, N., Miller, R.F. and Rahman, N. (2020) 'Randomised trial for
ambulatory management of primary spontaneous pneumothorax.', <u>American Journal of</u>
<u>Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine</u>, Conference, 201(1).

Hallifax, R., McKeown, E., Sivakumar, P., <u>Fairburn, I.</u>, Peter, C., Leitch, A., Knight, M., Stanton, A., Ijaz, A., Marciniak, S., Cameron, J., Bhatta, A., Blyth, K., Reddy, R., Harris, M.C., Maddekar, N., Walker, S., West, A., LaskawiecSzkonter, M., Corcoran, J., Gerry, S., Roberts, C., Harvey, J., Maskell, N., Miller, R. and Rahman, N. (2020) 'Late breaking abstract - randomised trial of ambulatory management of primary spontaneous pneumothorax.', *European Respiratory Journal*, Conference, 56(Suppl 64).

Haque, R., AlJawazneh, S., Hoellwarth, J., <u>Akhtar, M.A.</u>, Doshi, K., Tan, Y.C., Lu, W.Y., Roberts, C. and Al Muderis, M. (2020) 'Osseointegrated reconstruction and rehabilitation of transtibial amputees: the Osseointegration Group of Australia surgical technique and protocol for a prospective cohort study.', <u>BMJ Open</u>, 10(10), pp.e038346.

Harrison, M., Singh Roy, A., Hultqvist, J., Pan, A.W., <u>McCartney, D.</u>, McGuire, N., Irvine Fitzpatrick, L. and Forsyth, K. (2020) 'Quality of life outcomes for people with serious mental illness living in supported accommodation: systematic review and meta-analysis', <u>Social</u> <u>Psychiatry & Psychiatric Epidemiology</u>, 55(8), pp.977-988.

Heggie, R., Chappell, F., <u>Crawford, F.</u>, <u>Martin, A.</u>, <u>Gupta, S.</u>, Hawkins, N., Horne, M., Leese, G.P. and Lewsey, J. (2020) **'Complication rate among people with diabetes at low risk of foot ulceration in Fife, UK: an analysis of routinely collected data.'**, <u>*Diabetic Medicine*</u>, 37(12), pp.2116-2123.

<u>Henderson, K.</u> (2020) 'Rehabilitation following hip fracture; how data can drive service development and improvement...Chartered Society of Physiotherapy conference & trade exhibition, Physiotherapy UK 2019, Nov 1, 2019-Nov 2, 2019, United Kingdom', *Physiotherapy*, 107, pp.e128-e129.

Hohn, A., Jeyam, A., Caparrotta, T.M., McGurnaghan, S.J., O'Reilly, J.E., Blackbourn, L., McCrimmon, R.J., Leese, G.P., McKnight, J.A., Kennon, B., Lindsay, R.S., Sattar, N., Wild, S.H., McKeigue, P.M., <u>Colhoun, H.M.</u> and Scottish Diabetes Research Network Epidemiology Group (2021) **'The association of polypharmacy and high-risk drug classes with adverse health outcomes in the Scottish population with type 1 diabetes.'**, <u>Diabetologia</u>, 64(6), pp.1309-1319.

<u>Hughes, D.</u>, <u>ElKoubani, O.</u>, <u>Lim, D.</u> and <u>Yalamarthi, S.</u> (2020) **'A review of a local unit's use of CT scans in post-op elective colorectal resection patients over a year's time: are we delaying discharges?', <u>British Journal of Surgery</u>. Conference: International Surgical Congress of the Association of Surgeons of Great Britain and Ireland, ASGBI 2020. Glasgow United Kingdom, 107(SUPPL 4), pp.134.**

<u>Hughes, D., ElKoubani, O., Lim, D.</u> and <u>Yalamarthi, S.</u> (2020) **'Measuring magnesium and phosphate levels in post-operative elective colorectal resection patients: money and resources well spent?',** <u>Colorectal Disease</u>. Conference: Annual Meeting of the Association of Coloproctology of Great Britain and Ireland. Edinburgh United Kingdom, 22(SUPPL 1), pp.44-45. Jayaprakash, K., Glasmacher, S.A., Pang, B., Beswick, E., Mehta, A.R., Dakin, R., Newton, J., Chandran, S., Pal, S., Colville, S., Davenport, R., Morrison, I., Gorrie, G., Duncan, C., Connor, M., Simpson, D., Dolezal, O., <u>Lassak, K., Benvenga, A.</u> and Artal, J.C. (2020) **'Riluzole prescribing, uptake and treatment discontinuation in people with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in Scotland.'**, *Journal of Neurology*, 267(8), pp.2459-2461.

Jeyam, A., Gibb, F.W., McKnight, J.A., Kennon, B., O'Reilly, J.E., Caparrotta, T.M., Hohn, A., McGurnaghan, S.J., Blackbourn, L., Hatam, S., McCrimmon, R.J., Leese, G., Lindsay, R.S., Petrie, J., <u>Chalmers, J.</u>, Philip, S., Wild, S.H., Sattar, N., McKeigue, P.M., <u>Colhoun, H.M.</u> and Scottish Diabetes Research Network Epidemiology, Group (2021) **'Marked improvements in glycaemic outcomes following insulin pump therapy initiation in people with type 1 diabetes: a nationwide observational study in Scotland.'**, <u>Diabetologia</u>, 64(6), pp.1320-1331.

Jeyam, A., Gibb, F., McKnight, J., Kennon, B., O'Reilly, J., McGurnaghan, S., Blackbourn, L.A.K., McKeigue, P.M. and <u>Colhoun, H.M.</u> (2020) **'Marked improvements in HbA1c levels following insulin pump therapy initiation in people with type 1 diabetes: a nationwide observational study in Scotland.'**, <u>Diabetologia</u>. Conference: 56th Annual Meeting of the European Association for the Study of Diabetes, EASD 2020.Virtual, 63(SUPPL 1), pp.S342.

Jeyam, A., McGurnaghan, S.J., Blackbourn, L.A.K., McKnight, J.M., McKeigue, P.M., <u>Colhoun</u>, <u>H.M.</u>, <u>Chalmers</u>, J., Collier, A., Fischbacher, C., Green, F., Lindsay, R., McKnight, J., MacRury, S., Palmer, C., Patrick, A., Philip, S., Petrie, J. and Thekkepat, S. (2020) 'Diabetic neuropathy is a substantial burden in people with type 1 diabetes and is strongly associated with socioeconomic disadvantage: a population-representative study from Scotland.', <u>Diabetes</u> <u>Care</u>, 43(4), pp.734-742.

Keag, O.E., Murphy, L., <u>Bradley, A.</u>, Deakin, N., Whyte, S., Norman, J.E. and Stock, S.J. (2020) **'Postal recruitment for genetic studies of preterm birth: a feasibility study.'**, <u>Wellcome Open Research</u>, 5, pp.26.

Kelman, M.E., Hammersley, V.S., Kendall, M., Mukherjee, M., Morrice, L., <u>Harley, S.</u>, Schwarze, J. and Sheikh, A. (2020) 'Development and implementation of a nurse-led allergy clinic model in primary care: A feasibility trial.', <u>Allergy: European Journal of Allergy and Clinical</u> <u>Immunology</u>. Conference: European Academy of Allergy and Clinical Immunology Digital Congress. London United Kingdom, 75(SUPPL 109), pp.584-585.

Kolb, A., Gallacher, P.J., Campbell, J., O'Neill, M., Smith, J.R., Bell, S., Conway, B.R., Metcalfe, W., Joss, N., Dey, V., <u>Alfonzo, A.</u>, Kelly, M., Shah, S., McQuarrie, E., Geddes, C., Traynor, J., Hunter, R.W. and Scottish Renal Biopsy, R. (2021) **'A national registry study of patient and renal survival in adult nephrotic syndrome.'**, <u>KI Reports</u>, 6(2), pp.449-459.

<u>Koutsavlis, I.</u> (2021) 'Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy in multiple myeloma. A literature review and lessons to learn', <u>Annals of Hematology</u>, 100(1), pp.1-10.

<u>Kremel, D.</u>, <u>Siatos, D.</u> and <u>Al Jaafari, F.</u> (2020) 'Ureteroscopy in the day case setting: It's worth it! Retrospective single surgeon outcomes analysis during service relocation (inpatient to daycase) in a DGH.', *Journal of Clinical Urology*. [No full text available]

Lind, M., Seil, R., Dejour, D., Becker, R., Menetrey, J. and <u>Ross, M.</u> (2020) **'Creation of a** specialist core curriculum for the European Society for Sports traumatology, Knee surgery and Arthroscopy (ESSKA).', <u>Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy</u>, 28(10), pp.3066-3079.

Lind, M., Seil, R., Dejour, D., Becker, R., Menetrey, J. and <u>Ross, M.</u> (2020) **'Evidence-based** education for the future in the European Society for Sports traumatology, Knee surgery and Arthroscopy (ESSKA).', <u>Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy</u>, 28(10), pp.3061-3063.

<u>LiuShiuCheong, P.</u>, Lipworth, B.J., WeirMcCall, J.R., Houston, J.G. and Struthers, A.D. (2020) **'Allopurinol in patients with pulmonary hypertension associated with chronic lung disease.'**, <u>International Journal of COPD</u>, 15, pp.2015-2024.

Luta, X., Diernberger, K., <u>Bowden, J.</u>, Droney, J., Howdon, D., Schmidlin, K., Rodwin, V., Hall, P. and Marti, J. (2020) 'Healthcare trajectories and costs in the last year of life: A retrospective primary care and hospital analysis.', <u>BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care</u>.

Lyons, J., Akbari, A., Agrawal, U., Harper, G., <u>AzcoagaLorenzo, A.</u>, Bailey, R., Rafferty, J., Watkins, A., Fry, R., McCowan, C., Dezateux, C., Robson, J.P., Peek, N., Holmes, C., Denaxas, S., Owen, R., Abrams, K.R., John, A., O'Reilly, D., Richardson, S., Hall, M., Gale, C.P., Davies, J., Davies, C., Cross, L., Gallacher, J., Chess, J., Brookes, A.J. and Lyons, R.A. (2021) 'Protocol for the development of the Wales multimorbidity e-cohort (WMC): Data sources and methods to construct a population-based research platform to investigate multimorbidity.', <u>BMJ</u> Open, 11(1), pp.e047101.

MacFarlane, H., Baldock, T.E., McLean, R.C. and <u>Brown, L.R.</u> (2021) **'Patient outcomes following emergency bowel resection for inflammatory bowel disease and the impact of surgical subspecialisation in the north of England: A retrospective cohort study.'**, <u>World</u> <u>Journal of Surgery</u>, 45(5), pp.1376-1389.

MacFarlane, H., Baldock, T., <u>Brown, L.</u> and McLean, R. (2020) **'The impact of surgical** subspecialisation on patient outcomes following emergency bowel resection for inflammatory bowel disease in the north of England: A retrospective cohort study.', <u>Colorectal Disease</u>. Conference: 15th Scientific and Annual Meeting of the European Society of Coloproctology. Virtual United States, 22(SUPPL 3), pp.9.

MacTavish, P., Quasim, T., Purdie, C., Ball, M., Barker, L., Connelly, S., Devine, H., Henderson, P., <u>Hogg, L.A.</u>, Kishore, R., Lucie, P., Murphy, J., O'Brien, P., Shaw, M., Strachan, L., <u>Timmins, A.</u>, Iwashyna, T.J. and McPeake, J. (2020) **'Medication-related problems in intensive care unit** *survivors: Learning from a multicenter program.'*, <u>Annals of the American Thoracic</u> <u>Society</u>, 17(10), pp.1326-1329.

<u>Mahmood, T.</u> (2020) 'Breech presentation at term: Is it the time to revisit the mode: An introduction to the mini-symposium commissioned by the European Board and College of Obstetrics and Gynaecology (EBCOG).', European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, & Reproductive Biology, 252, pp.570-571. [No full text available]

Mamza, J.B., Geary, R., ElHamamsy, D., Gurol, I., Duckett, J., <u>Mahmood, T.</u>, Monga, A., ToozsHobson, P., Wilson, A., Tincello, D. and Van der Meulen, J. (2020) **'Variation in surgical treatment advice for women with stress urinary incontinence: A study using clinical case vignettes.'**, <u>International Urogynecology Journal</u>, 31(6), pp.1153-1161.

Mariappan, P., Johnston, A., Padovani, L., Clark, E., Trail, M., Hamid, S., Hollins, G., <u>Simpson, H.</u>, Thomas, B.G., Hasan, R., Bhatt, J., Ahmad, I., Nandwani, G.M., <u>Mitchell, I.</u>, Hendry, D. and for members of the Scottish Bladder Cancer QPI Research Collaborative (2020) **'Enhanced quality and effectiveness of transurethral resection of bladder tumour in non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer: A multicentre real-world experience from Scotland's quality performance indicators programme.'**, *European Urology*, 78(4), pp.520-530.

Marks, B., McLean, R. and <u>Brown, L.</u> (2020) **'Ischaemic bowel in the north of England: Trends in patient outcomes, management approach and the influence of subspecialisation.',** *Colorectal Disease*. *Conference: 15th Scientific and Annual Meeting of the European Society of Coloproctology. Virtual United States,* 22(SUPPL 3), pp.15.

<u>Maxwell, D.</u> (2020) **'Radiology in the great war',** *Imaging & Therapy Practice*, pp.17-20. [No full text available]

McCartney, M., <u>Sullivan, F.</u> and Heneghan, C. (2020) **'Information and rational decision**making: Explanations to patients and citizens about personal risk of COVID-19.', <u>BMJ</u> <u>Evidence-Based Medicine</u>, 26(4), pp.143-146.

<u>McGregor, R.J.</u> and <u>Robertson, A.G.</u> (2020) 'Benign surgical diseases of the gastro-oesophageal junction.', <u>Surgery (United Kingdom)</u>, 38(11), pp.694-701.

McGurnaghan, S.J., Weir, A., Bishop, J., Kennedy, S., Blackbourn, L., McAllister, D.A., Hutchinson, S., Caparrotta, T.M., Mellor, J., Jeyam, A., O'Reilly, J.E., Wild, S.H., Hatam, S., Hohn, A., Colombo, M., Robertson, C., Lone, N., Murray, J., Butterly, E., Petrie, J., Kennon, B., McCrimmon, R., Lindsay, R., Pearson, E., Sattar, N., McKnight, J., Philip, S., Collier, A., McMenamin, J., SmithPalmer, A., Goldberg, D., McKeigue, P.M., <u>Colhoun, H.M.</u>, Public Health Scotland COVID Health Protection Study Group and Scottish Diabetes Research Network Epidemiology Group (2021) 'Risks of and risk factors for COVID-19 disease in people with diabetes: A cohort study of the total population of Scotland.', <u>The Lancet Diabetes &</u> <u>Endocrinology</u>, 9(2), pp.82-93.

McKnight, J.A., Ochs, A., Mair, C., McKnight, O., Wright, R., Gibb, F.W., Cunningham, S.G., Strachan, M., Ritchie, S., McGurnaghan, S.J. and <u>Colhoun, H.M.</u> (2020) **'The effect of DAFNE education, continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion, or both in a population with type 1 diabetes in Scotland'**, <u>Diabetic Medicine</u>, 37(6), pp.1016-1022. McLaren, J.S., <u>Campbell, V.</u>, <u>Rahilly, M.</u>, <u>Rehman, J.M.</u> and <u>Cargill, R.</u> (2020) **'Erdheim-chester disease: An ultra-rare mimic of IgG4-related disease.'**, <u>*Rheumatology (United*</u> <u>*Kingdom)*</u>, Conference, 59(Suppl 2), pp.ii33.

McSorley, S.T., Digby, J., <u>Clyde, D.</u>, <u>Cruickshank, N.</u>, Burton, P., <u>Barker, L.</u>, Strachan, J.A., Fraser, C.G., Smith, K., Mowat, C., Winter, J. and Steele, R.J.C. (2021) **'Yield of colorectal cancer at colonoscopy according to faecal haemoglobin concentration in symptomatic patients referred from primary care.'**, <u>Colorectal Disease</u>, 23(7), pp.1615-1621.

Michalova, L., Dhasmana, D.J., Chaudhuri, R., Yang, J.F., Smith, S.J. and Morris, P.G. (2021) **'The** role of generalised anxiety in asthma outcomes: Experiential avoidance and self-efficacy as mediators.', <u>Thorax</u>. Conference: British Thoracic Society Winter Meeting. Online, 76(SUPPL 1), pp.A127-A128.

Molokwu, C.N., <u>Ndoumbe, J.K.</u> and Goodman, C.M. (2020) **'Cold weather increases the risk of scrotal torsion events: Results of an ecological study of acute scrotal pain in Scotland over 25 years.', <u>Scientific Reports</u>, 10(1), pp.17958.**

Moore, S., <u>Kinnear, M.</u> and Freeman, L. (2020) **'Autistic doctors: Overlooked assets to medicine.'**, <u>*The Lancet Psychiatry*</u>, 7(4), pp.306-307.

<u>Nicholson, J.A.</u>, <u>Holland, G.</u>, Kumar, S.C. and <u>Clayton, R.A.E.</u> (2020) **'Technical tip: Talar neck fixation strategy based on fracture variants'**, <u>*Techniques in Orthopaedics*</u>, 35(4), pp.276-280.

O'Reilly, J.E., Blackbourn, L., Caparrotta, T.M., Jeyam, A., Kennon, B., Leese, G.P., Lindsay, R.S., McCrimmon, R.J., McGurnaghan, S.J., McKeigue, P.M., McKnight, J.A., Petrie, J.R., Philip, S., Sattar, N., Wild, S.H., <u>Colhoun, H.M.</u> and Scottish Diabetes Research Network Epidemiology Group (2020) **'Time trends in deaths before age 50 years in people with type 1 diabetes: A nationwide analysis from Scotland 2004-2017.'**, <u>Diabetologia</u>, 63(8), pp.1626-1636.

<u>Pendleton, M.P.</u>, Padovani, L.P., Shetty, J.S., Zuberi, S.Z., McLeod, S.M., AbuArafeh, I.A., Callaghan, M.C. and McLellan, A.M. (2021) **'Population study of death in children with epilepsy in Scotland.'**, <u>Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology</u>. Conference: Annual Meeting of the British Paediatric Neurology Association. Virtual, 63(SUPPL 1), pp.70.

Plevris, N., Fulforth, J., Siakavellas, S., Robertson, A., Hall, R., Tyler, A., Jenkinson, P.W., Campbell, I., <u>Chuah, C.S.</u>, Kane, C., Veryan, J., Lam, W.L., Saunders, J., Kelly, C., Gaya, D., <u>Jafferbhoy, H.</u>, Macdonald, J.C., Seenan, J.P., Mowat, C., Naismith, G., Potts, L.F., Sutherland, D.I., Watts, D., Arnott, I., Bain, G., Jones, G. and Lees, C.W. (2021) **'Real-world effectiveness and safety of ustekinumab for the treatment of Crohn's disease: The Scottish ustekinumab cohort.'**, *Journal of Gastroenterology & Hepatology*, 36(8), pp.2067-2075.

<u>Purvis, P.</u> and <u>Francis, O.</u> (2020) 'Prone position ventilation in non-intubated, spontaneously ventilating patients: New guidance from the Intensive Care Society (UK) and existing evidence.', <u>Journal of the Intensive Care Society</u>.

Qurishi, R., Drenth, J., <u>Baldacchino, A.</u>, Broers, B., Buwalda, V. and De Jong, C. A. J. (2021) **'An international consultation on case reports in addiction medicine.'**, *Substance Abuse*, 1-7. [No full text available]

Rai, P., Aziz, S., Kannan, S., Ashford, R., Mitchell, L., Brown, A., Hutchings, S., Hau, M., Howard, D., Ahad, A., Sant, K., Spacey, K., Bagga, R., Wigley, C., Stirling, E., Bleibleh, S., Marlow, N., Walsh, N., McCusker, D., Marusza, C., Morrison, R., Hensley, O., Osman, K., Ahmed, U., Young, P., Marson, B., Lambert, R., Kiran, M. and Robiati, L. (2020) 'Current surgical management of metastatic pathological fractures of the femur: A multicentre snapshot audit.', *European Journal of Surgical Oncology*, 46(8), pp.1491-1495.

<u>Raman, R.</u> and <u>Fleming, L.</u> (2021) 'We need to talk about codeine: An implementation study to reduce the number of emergency department patients discharged on high-strength cocodamol using the behaviour change wheel.', <u>Emergency Medicine Journal</u>, Article number emermed-2020-209479.

Richardson, H., Clarke, C., Lonergan, M., Barclay, H., Crichton, M., Pollock, J., Finch, S., Billingham, P., Hussain, F., MacKenzie, A., Cassidy, D., Band, M., Smith, A., Paracha, M., Chowdhury, G., <u>Dhasmana, D.</u>, Chaudhuri, R., Short, P.M., Keir, H.R., Dicker, A.J. and Chalmers, J.D. (2020) 'Microbiome use to stratify inhaled corticosteroids in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (MUSIC) trial: Baseline data and impact of inhaled corticosteroid withdrawal in severe COPD with frequent exacerbations.', <u>European Respiratory</u> <u>Journal</u>, Conference, 56(Suppl 64).

Rimmer, M.P., Fishwick, K., Henderson, I., <u>Chinn, D.</u>, Al Wattar, B.H. and Quenby, S. (2021) **'Quantifying CD138+ cells in the endometrium to assess chronic endometritis in women at risk of recurrent pregnancy loss: A prospective cohort study and rapid review'**, <u>Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology Research</u>, 47(2), pp.689-697.

<u>Robertson, C.</u> and <u>Buchanan, P.</u> (2020) 'Accessible information for all: Addressing inequalities for people who have learning disabilities with reference to providing skin care', *Dermatological Nursing*, 19(1), pp.47-50. [No full text available]

<u>Ross, I.</u> and <u>Banerjee, I.</u> (2020) **'Explorative data analysis of new cases of syphilis in a rural population over a 6 year period.'**, <u>International Journal of STD and AIDS</u></u>. Conference: British Association for Sexual Health and HIV Conference, BASHH. Virtual, 31(SUPPL 12), pp.28-29.

Sakalis, V., Gkotsi, A., <u>Guillamier, S.</u>, <u>Tsafrakidis, P.</u>, Ierides, S., Zarkadoulias, A., Charpidou, D. and Apostolidis, A. (2020) **'The effect of pharmacotherapy on prostate volume, prostate perfusion and PSA (prostate morphometric parameters) in patients with lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS) and benign prostatic obstruction (BPO)? A systematic review and metaanalysis.'**, <u>European Urology Open Science</u>, Conference: EAU20 Virtual Congress and Theme Week. Virtual, Online, 19(Suppl 2), pp.e634-e635. Sarica, S.H., Gallacher, P.J., Dhaun, N., Sznajd, J., Harvie, J., <u>McLaren, J.</u>, McGeoch, L., Kumar, V., Amft, N., Erwig, L., Marks, A., Bruno, L., Zollner, Y., Black, C. and Basu,

N. (2021) 'Multimorbidity in antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitis: Results from a longitudinal, multicenter data linkage study.', <u>Arthritis & Rheumatology</u>, 73(4), pp.651-659.

Sarica, S.H., Dhaun, N., Sznajd, J., Harvie, J., <u>McLaren, J.</u>, McGeoch, L., Kumar, V., Amft, N., Erwig, L., Marks, A., Black, C. and Basu, N. (2020) **'Characterizing infection in anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitis: Results from a longitudinal, matched-cohort data linkage study.'**, <u>*Rheumatology (United Kingdom)*</u>, 59(10), pp.3014-3022.

SavonaVentura, C. and <u>Mahmood, T.</u> (2020) **'EBCOG position statement about the use of herbal medication during pregnancy.'**, *European Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, 244, pp.38-39. [No full text available]

Seaton, R.A., Cooper, L., Fairweather, J., <u>Fenning, S.</u>, Ferguson, L., Galbraith, S., Duffy, T. and Sneddon, J. (2021) **'Antibiotic use towards the end of life: Development of good practice recommendations.'**, <u>BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care</u>.

Seaton, R.A., Gibbons, C.L., Cooper, L., Malcolm, W., McKinney, R., Dundas, S., <u>Griffith, D.</u>, Jeffreys, D., Hamilton, K., ChooKang, B., Brittain, S., Guthrie, D. and Sneddon, J. (2020) **'Survey of antibiotic and antifungal prescribing in patients with suspected and confirmed COVID-19 in Scottish hospitals.'**, *Journal of Infection*, 81(6), pp.952-960.

<u>Stevenson, G.</u>, Foster, S. and Grove, M. (2020) **'Dementia inpatient therapeutic interventions in a Scottish health region.'**, <u>International Psychogeriatrics</u>. Conference: 20th International Congress of the International Psychogeriatric Association, IPA 2020. Virtual, 32(SUPPL 1), pp.144.

<u>Stevenson, G., Munro, S., McIntyre, C.</u> and Foster, S. (2020) **'Survey of the adequacy of hospital discharge letters from older adult mental health (oamh) wards in a Scottish health region.'**, <u>International Psychogeriatrics</u>. Conference: 20th International Congress of the International Psychogeriatric Association, IPA 2020. Virtual, 32(SUPPL 1), pp.186.

<u>Stewart, K.E.</u>, <u>Bannon, R.</u> and <u>Bannister, M.</u> (2021) **'Benign parotid mass and facial palsy: Systematic review.',** *Annals of the Royal College of Surgeons of England,* 103(1), pp.47-52. [No full text available]

<u>Stewart, K.E.</u>, <u>Bannon, R.</u>, <u>Mondal, D.B.</u> and <u>Bannister, M.</u> (2020) 'Benign paediatric parotid mass & facial palsy: Systematic review', <u>International Journal of Pediatric</u> <u>Otorhinolaryngology</u>, 134, pp.110024.

<u>Stirling, P.H.</u> and <u>McEachan, J.E.</u> (2020) **'Establishing a virtual hand surgery clinic.',** <u>Journal of</u> <u>Hand Surgery: European Volume</u>, 45(9), pp.1002-1004. <u>Stirling, P.H.C.</u>, Jenkins, P.J., Duckworth, A.D., Clement, N.D. and <u>McEachan</u>, <u>J.E.</u> (2021) **'Comorbid status influences quality of life following carpal tunnel decompression.'**, *Hand Surgery and Rehabilitation*, 40(3), pp.338-342. [No full text available]

<u>Stirling, P.H.C.</u>, <u>Ng, N.</u>, Duckworth, A.D. and <u>McEachan, J.E.</u> (2021) **'Extensor indicis transfer improves function in patients after rupture of the extensor pollicis longus tendon.'**, *Hand Surgery and Rehabilitation*, 40(3), pp.343-346. [No full text available]

<u>Stirling, P.H.C.</u>, <u>Robertson, F.M.</u> and <u>McEachan, J.E.</u> (2021) **'A comprehensive analysis of medium-term outcomes of open first dorsal compartment release for de Quervain's syndrome.',** *Hand Surgery and Rehabilitation,* 40(1), pp.40-43. [No full text available]

<u>Stirling, P.H.C.</u>, Jenkins, P.J., Clement, N.D., Duckworth, A.D. and <u>McEachan, J.E.</u> (2020) **'The influence of self-reported hand-arm vibration exposure on functional outcomes following carpal tunnel release.'**, *Journal of Hand Surgery – American volume*, 45(11), pp.1029-1036.

<u>Stirling, P.</u>, Clement, N.D., Jenkins, P.J., Duckworth, A.D. and <u>McEachan, J.E.</u> (2020) **'A cost-utility analysis of open A1 pulley release for the treatment of trigger finger.',** <u>Journal of Hand</u> <u>Surgery: European Volume</u>, 45(10), pp.1083-1086.

<u>Stirling, P.</u>, Jenkins, P.J., Clement, N.D., Duckworth, A.D. and <u>McEachan, J.E.</u> (2020) **'Occupation** classification predicts return to work after carpal tunnel decompression.', <u>Occupational</u> <u>Medicine (Oxford)</u>, 70(6), pp.415-420.

<u>Stirling, P.</u>, Jenkins, P.J., Duckworth, A.D., Clement, N.D. and <u>McEachan, J.E.</u> (2020) **'Functional outcomes of trigger finger release in non-diabetic and diabetic patients.'**, <u>Journal of Hand</u> <u>Surgery: European Volume</u>, 45(10), pp.1078-1082.

<u>Stirling, P.</u>, Jenkins, P.J. and <u>McEachan, J.E.</u> (2020) 'The impact of socioeconomic deprivation on patients undergoing surgery for Dupuytren's disease.', <u>Journal of Hand Surgery: European</u> <u>Volume</u>, 45(9), pp.993-995.

Strachan, H., Williamson, L., Elders, A., <u>Sutherland, B.</u>, Hibberd, C. and Williams, B. (2020) **'The development and psychometric testing of three instruments that measure person-centred caring as three concepts - personalization, participation and responsiveness.', <u>Journal of Advanced Nursing</u>, 76(11), pp.3190-3203.**

<u>Sullivan, F.M.</u> and van Beusekom, M. (2020) **'Early diagnosis of lung cancer in people most at risk.'**, *British Journal of General Practice*, 70(701), pp.572-573.

<u>Swan, A.</u>, <u>Babiker, A.</u>, Du Plessis, J.C. and Cambell, V. (2020) **'Pondering possibilities: PRES versus PML.'**, <u>British Journal of Haematology</u>, Conference: 60th Annual Scientific Meeting of the British Society for Haematology. Birmingham United Kingdom, 189(Suppl 1), pp.210. <u>Swan, A.</u>, Latif, A.L. and Campbell, V. (2020) **'Vyxeos in high-risk MDS as induction therapy prior to stem cell transplantation.'**, <u>British Journal of Haematology</u>, Conference: 60th Annual Scientific Meeting of the British Society for Haematology. Birmingham United Kingdom, 189(Suppl 1), pp.293-294.

<u>Swartzman, S.</u>, <u>Kerr, J.</u> and <u>McElhinney, R.</u> (2021) 'An evaluation of a group-based cognitive behavioural therapy intervention for low self-esteem.', <u>Behavioural & Cognitive</u> <u>Psychotherapy</u>, pp.1-10.

Symonds, J.D., Moloney, T.C., Lang, B., McLellan, A., O'Regan, M.E., MacLeod, S., Jollands, A., Vincent, A., Kirkpatrick, M., Brunklaus, A., Shetty, J., Dorris, L., Forbes, K., AbuArafeh, I., Andrew, J., Brink, P., Callaghan, M., <u>Cruden, J.</u>, Findlay, C., Grattan, R., MacDonnell, J., McKnight, J., Morrison, C.A., Nairn, L., Pilley, E., Stephen, E., Thomsen, S., Webb, A., Wilson, M. and Zuberi, S.M. (2020) **'Neuronal antibody prevalence in children with seizures under 3 years: A prospective national cohort.'**, *Neurology*, 95(11), pp.e1590-e1598. [No full text available]

Symonds, J.D., Dorris, L., Brunklaus, A., Stewart, K., Mclellan, A., O'Regan, M., Macleod, S., Jollands, A., Joss, S., Kirkpatrick, M., Pilz, D.T., AbuArafeh, I., Andrew, J., Brink, P., Callaghan, M., <u>Cruden, J.</u>, Diver, L.A., Findlay, C., Gardiner, S., Grattan, R., Morrison, C.A., Nairn, L., Shetty, J., Stephen, E., Webb, A., Wilson, M.T. and Zuberi, S.M. (2020) **'Should children presenting with a first episode of status epilepticus have genetic testing?'**, <u>Developmental Medicine and</u> <u>Child Neurology</u>. Conference: British Paediatric Neurology Association Annual Meeting. Belfast United Kingdom, 62(Supplement 1), pp.11.

Thoma, I., Colombo, M., Shehni, A.A., McGurnaghan, S.J., Blackbourn, L.A.K., Wilkinson, H., Collier, A., Patrick, A.W., Petrie, J.R., McKeigue, P.M., Saldova, R. and <u>Colhoun,</u> <u>H.M.</u> (2020) **'Quantitative levels of serum N-glycans in type 1 diabetes and their role in kidney disease.'**, <u>Diabetologia</u>. Conference: 56th Annual Meeting of the European Association for the Study of Diabetes, EASD 2020. Virtual, 63(SUPPL 1), pp.S383.

Tolomeo, S., Steele, J.D., Ekhtiari, H. and <u>Baldacchino, A.</u> (2021) **'Chronic heroin use disorder and the brain: Current evidence and future implications'**, *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry*, 111, pp.110148. [No full text available]

Tuteja, S.Y., <u>Blaikie, A.</u> and Kekunnaya, R. (2021) **'Identification of amblyogenic risk factors** with the bruckner reflex test using the low-cost Arclight direct ophthalmoscope.', <u>Eye</u>.

van Zuydam, N.R., Ladenvall, C., Voight, B.F., Strawbridge, R.J., FernandezTajes, J., Rayner, N.W., Robertson, N.R., Mahajan, A., Vlachopoulou, E., Goel, A., Kleber, M.E., Nelson, C.P., Kwee, L.C., Esko, T., Mihailov, E., Magi, R., Milani, L., Fischer, K., Kanoni, S., Kumar, J., Song, C., Hartiala, J.A., Pedersen, N.L., Perola, M., Gieger, C., Peters, A., Qu, L., Willems, S.M., Doney, A., Morris, A.D., Zheng, Y., Sesti, G., Hu, F.B., Qi, L., Laakso, M., Thorsteinsdottir, U., Grallert, H., van Duijn, C., Reilly, M.P., Ingelsson, E., Deloukas, P., Kathiresan, S., Metspalu, A., Shah, S.H., Sinisalo, J., Salomaa, V., Hamsten, A., Samani, N.J., Marz, W., Hazen, S.L., Watkins, H., Saleheen, D., Morris, A.P., <u>Colhoun, H.M.</u>, Groop, L., McCarthy, M.I., Palmer, C., SUMMIT Steering Committee and CARDIOGRAMplusC4D Steering Committee. (2020) **'Genetic predisposition to coronary artery disease in type 2 diabetes mellitus.'**, <u>Circulation: Genomic</u> <u>and Precision Medicine</u>, 13(6), Article number e002769.

Walker, S.P., Keenan, E., Bintcliffe, O., Stanton, A.E., Roberts, M., Pepperell, J., <u>Fairbairn, I.</u>, McKeown, E., Goldring, J., Maddekar, N., Walters, J., West, A., Bhatta, A., Knight, M., Mercer, R., Hallifax, R., White, P., Miller, R.F., Rahman, N.M. and Maskell, N.A. (2021) **'Ambulatory management of secondary spontaneous pneumothorax: A randomised controlled trial.'**, *European Respiratory Journal*, 57(6), pp.06. [No full text available]

<u>Watson, L.</u> (2021) 'Public health and ethics: The case of prenatal screening and down's syndrome.', *Journal of Public Health*, 43(3), pp.e493-e494.

<u>Woods, Y.L.</u> and <u>Carey, F.A.</u> (2020) 'Pathology of the oesophagus and stomach.', <u>Surgery</u> (<u>United Kingdom</u>), 38(11), pp.687-693.

Wordie, S.J., Bugler, K.E., Bessell, P.R., Robb, J.E. and Gaston (2021) 'Hip displacement in children with cerebral palsy.', *Bone & Joint Journal*, 103-B(2), pp.411-414.

Wraw, C., Minton, J., Mitchell, R., Wyper, G., <u>Campbell, C.</u> and McCartney, G. (2020) **'Can** changes in spending on health and social care explain the recent mortality trends in Scotland? A protocol for an observational study.', <u>BMJ Open</u>, 10(7), pp.e036025.

Wright, C., Ross, C. and <u>Mc Goldrick, N.</u> (2020) 'Are hydroxychloroquine and chloroquine effective in the treatment of SARS-COV-2 (COVID-19)?', <u>Evidence-Based Dentistry</u>, 21(2), pp.64-65.

<u>Yasmeen, A.</u>, MacDonald, A., Scott, G. and Saqib, M.B. (2021) **'Nutritional intake of preterm infants -- an audit of practice at a tertiary neonatal unit in Scotland',** *Infant*, 17(1), pp.35-38. [No full text available]

<u>Yasmeen, A.</u>, Ghosh, A., Boulton, R., Jackson, A. and Abernethy, C. (2020) **'Administration of surfactant via the LISA technique in a level 3 unit in Scotland',** *Infant*, 16(4), pp.155-158. [No full text available]

<u>Yasmeen, A</u>. and Jackson, A. (2020) **'Bone health of extremely preterm infants: Screening, monitoring and management of metabolic bone disease of prematurity',** *Infant,* 16(5), pp.204-207. [No full text available]

Zanotto, T., Mercer, T.H., Linden, M., Traynor, J.P., <u>Doyle, A.</u>, <u>Chalmers, K.</u>, <u>Allan, N.</u>, Shilliday, I. and Koufaki, P. (2020) 'Association of postural balance and falls in adult patients receiving haemodialysis: A prospective cohort study.', <u>Gait & Posture</u>, 82, pp.110-117.

Zhang, C., Hughes, K., Fulton, C. and <u>Gill, L.</u> (2020) **'An audit of tranexamic acid use in postpartum haemorrhage following operative delivery.'**, <u>Anaesthesia</u>, Conference, 75(Suppl 2), pp.70.

<u>Zhang, C.</u> and <u>Leeuwenberg, I.</u> (2020) **'Can we do better than 'tick box' consent? An audit of documentation in the anaesthetic consent process.',** <u>Anaesthesia</u>, Conference, 75(Suppl 2), pp.69.

Zimmerman, E., Martins, N.N., Verheijen, R. and <u>Mahmood, T.</u> (2021) **'EBCOG position** statement - simulation-based training for obstetrics and gynaecology during the COVID-19 pandemic.', <u>European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, & Reproductive Biology</u>, 258, pp.457-458.

11. Appendix 1 – RIK Structure



NHS Fife provides accessible communication in a variety of formats including for people who are speakers of community languages, who require Easy Read versions, who speak BSL, read Braille or use Audio formats.

NHS Fife SMS text service number 07805800005 is available for people who have a hearing or speech impairment.

To find out more about accessible formats contact: fife-UHB.EqualityandHumanRights@nhs.net or phone 01592 729130

NHS Fife Hayfield House Hayfield Road Kirkcaldy, KY2 5AH

www.nhsfife.org

facebook.com/nhsfife

🕑 @nhsfife

youtube.com/nhsfife

@nhsfife